






1 Greg Gordon and Erika Bolstad, Young’s $10 Million Earmark Focus Of Inquiry,
Seattle Times, August 19, 2007 (Exhibit 1).

2 David Kirkpatrick, Campaign Funds for Alaska, New York Times, June 7, 2007 (Exhibit
2).

3 Id.

4 Id.

5 Id.; Alaskans For Don Young, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly Report 2005, April 12,
2005, p. 37 (Exhibit 3); Midnight Sun Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3, October
Quarterly Report 2005, January 31, 2005, p. 6 (Exhibit 4).

REP. DON YOUNG

Rep. Don Young is an 18th-term member of Congress, representing Alaska at-large.  Rep.
Young served as Chairman of the House Resources Committee from 1994 to 2000, and as the
Chairman of the House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee from 2000 to 2006.  In the
110th Congress, Rep. Young serves as the ranking member of the House Resources Committee.

Rep. Young’s ethics violations stem from the misuse of his position to benefit family and
friends and to steer millions of dollars in earmarks to corporations in exchange for contributions
to his campaign committee and political action committee, Midnight Sun PAC (MSPAC).  Rep.
Young is currently under four separate federal investigations including an investigation into his
role in securing a $10 million earmark for a road in Florida, assistance he offered to recently
convicted VECO Corporation CEO Bill Allen, his ties to convicted lobbyist Jack Abramoff and
his financial relationship with convicted businessman Dennis Troha.  Rep. Young was included
in CREW’s 2007 congressional corruption report. 
  

Earmarking Transportation Funds to a Campaign Donor

The Department of Justice is currently investigating whether Rep. Young earmarked $10
million dollars for a construction project in exchange for campaign donations.1

In February 2005, while serving as the chairman of the House Transportation Committee,
Rep. Young traveled to Florida’s Gulf Coast to discuss transportation projects, including a $10
million Interstate 75 expansion that would connect the freeway to Coconut Road.2  During his
stay, Rep. Young attended a fundraiser in his honor, organized by land developer Daniel
Aronoff.3  Mr. Aronoff, who owns more than 4,000 acres of land along Coconut Road and stands
to gain financially from the project, helped Rep. Young raise $40,000 from Florida developers
and builders.4  Mr. Aronoff personally donated $500 to Rep. Young’s campaign committee and an
additional $2,500 to MSPAC.5 
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6 Julio Ochoa, Report Shows Someone Edited Federal Transportation Bill, Naples Daily
News, August 9, 2007 (Exhibit 5).

7 Id.

8 Kirkpatrick, New York Times, June 7, 2007.

9 Id.

10 Id.

11 Id.

12 Public Law 109-59, Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act:
A Legacy For Users, August 10, 2005 (Exhibit 6).

13 Michael Grunwald, A Bridge to Nowhere An Overstuffed Highway Bill, A Teapot
Museum, Washington Post, April 30, 2006 (Exhibit 7). 

14 Id.

In a fiscal year 2006 transportation bill authored by Rep. Young, $10 million was
earmarked for the improvements to Florida’s I-75.6  After the House and Senate approved the bill
but before the president signed it into law, the original language was deleted and the phrase
“Coconut Rd interchanges and I-75/Lee County” was inserted.7  Rep. Young claimed that Rep.
Connie Mack, who represents the district where the interchange was to be built, sponsored the
earmark but Rep. Mack denied making the request.8

After the money was earmarked, the Lee County Metropolitan Planning Organization
(MPO) voted twice to block the proposed interchange because the Army Corps of Engineers, the
Environmental Protection Agency, the Fish and Wildlife Service and the Federal Highway
Administration issued studies warning that the interchange could threaten nearby wetlands.9  On
January 23, 2006, Rep. Young responded to the delay by writing a letter to the chairman of the
MPO threatening that if the $10 million earmark were not used specifically for the Coconut Road
Interchange, he would draft another bill revoking the money.10  Rep. Mack followed up with
another letter to the MPO warning that rejecting the money would make it hard for the area to
secure future federal funding.11

    
Earmarking Transportation Funds for Bridges

In the 109th Congress, Rep. Young earmarked over $400 million dollars to Alaska for two
bridges serving tiny populations.  In the 2005 Transportation Equity Act, $202 million12 was
earmarked for a bridge connecting the remote town of Ketchikan (population: 8,900)13 to the even
more remote island of Gravina (population: 50).14  Another $229 million was earmarked for a
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A Legacy For Users, August 10, 2005 (Exhibit 8).

16 Press Release, Office of Representative Mark Kirk, House Appropriations Committee
Backs Bridges To Nowhere, July 11, 2007 (Exhibit 9).

17 John Stanton, Alaska’s Friends And Family Plan, Roll Call, May 14, 2007 (Exhibit 10). 

18 Id.

19 Id.

20 Tom Ichniowski, SAFETEA-LU Remains on Course, Generally, Engineering News-
Record, November 28, 2005 (Exhibit 11).

21 Id.

22 Stanton, Roll Call, May 14, 2007.

23 John Wilke, Alaska’s Young Stevens Face Inquiry, Wall Street Journal July 25, 2007
(Exhibit 12).

second bridge, “Don Young’s Way”15 that would connect Knik Arm (population: 1)16 to
Anchorage.

Rep. Young’s daughter, Joni Young, and his son-in-law, Art Nelson, own land in the Knik
Arm and stand to profit if the project is completed.17  Mr. Nelson is a 10% owner in Point Bluff
LLC, which owns two pieces of land in the Knik Arm area: a 38.8-acre parcel and a 20.4-acre
parcel.18  The assessed value of the 38 acre plot has gone from $169,000 to $180,000 and the
value of the 20-acre plot has gone from $121,000 to $131,900 since the announcement of the     
“Don Young’s Way” project.19 

After negative press coverage and pressure from colleagues, Rep. Young agreed to release
the obligation that the earmarked money be used for the specific bridges.20  The funds were still
given to Alaska, however, as part of the state’s general federal highway allotment fund from
which legislators can still fund the bridge projects.21  Rep. Young continues to back the proposed
development.22

Association with VECO Corporation

Rep. Young is the subject of a criminal inquiry into whether he accepted bribes, illegal
gratuities or unreported gifts from VECO Corporation.23
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24 Steve Quinn, Case Shakes Up Alaska Politics, The Virginian Pilot, May 10, 2007
(Exhibit 13).

25 VECO Corporation Website, Pipelines and Terminals,
http://www.veco.com/BusinessSectors/PipelinesTerminals/default.asp (Exhibit 14).

26 Matt Volz, VECO Money Spiked During Gas Pipeline Talks, Associated Press,
September 5, 2006. (Exhibit 15).

27 Id.

28 Id.

29 Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, Year End Report 2002, January 28, 2002, pp.
60, 61, 62, 67 (Exhibit 16); Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report
2003, October 13, 2003, pp. 32, 36, 54, 98, 100, 109, 111, 141, 142, 156 (Exhibit 17); Alaskans
for Don Young, FEC Form 3, Pre-Primary Report 2004, November 4, 2004, pp. 16, 17, 24, 25,
42, 48, 49, 59, 60 (Exhibit 18); Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report
2005, October 11, 2005, pp. 22, 39, 42, 71, 76, 102, 103 (Exhibit 19); Alaskans for Don Young,
FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2006, October 6, 2006, pp. 6, 26, 29, 55, 61, 79, 80
(Exhibit 20).

30 John Wilke, Wall Street Journal, July 25, 2007.

31 Quinn, Virginian Pilot, May 10, 2007.

32 Volz, Associated Press, Sept. 5, 2006.

Former VECO Corporation CEO Bill Allen pleaded guilty to criminal charges in May
2007, after an investigation revealed that he had bribed three Alaska state legislators.24  VECO
manufactures oil drilling technology and builds natural gas pipelines.25  The company long has
recognized the importance of the federal government to its livelihood.  In a 2004 newsletter sent
to VECO employees, executives wrote, “the right people in the White House, the U.S. Capitol
and Alaska State Legislature make a huge impact on oil and gas resource development.”26 
Furthermore, VECO President Peter Leathard has been quoted as saying his company works to
elect politicians that back mineral exploration, claiming “We put a lot of money into the effort.”27 
Since 1997, Mr. Allen, Mr. Leathard, Executive Vice President Roger Chan and Vice President
Rick Smith have contributed more than $384,000 to presidential and congressional races.28 
Throughout the 2002, 2004 and 2006 election cycles, VECO executives donated a total of
$89,500 to Rep. Young: $61,850 to his campaign committee and $27,650 to MSPAC29 and every
August, Mr. Allen hosted a fundraiser called “The Pig Roast” for Rep. Young.30  According to the
Center for Responsive Politics, approximately one-quarter of the total VECO contributions  went
to Rep. Young.31 

One of VECO’s top legislative priorities is opening the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge
(ANWR) to oil drilling.32  Rep. Young has been a long-time and leading proponent of opening the
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Hill, April 26, 2005 (Exhibit 21).
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36 Press Release, Matanuska-Susitna Borough-Office of Public Affairs, Structural Steel
Goes Up on Ferry Terminal, May 17, 2006 (Exhibit 24).

37 Matt Kelley, Stevens’ Ties to Oil Industry Contractor is Focus of Probe; Alaska
Republican Senator Denies Any Wrongdoing, USA Today, August 1, 2007 (Exhibit 25).

38 Press Release, Matanuska-Susitna Borough-Office of Public Affairs, May 17, 2006.

39 Tim Bradner, Post-Allen, VECO Pushes Forward, Alaska Journal of Commerce, June
17, 2007 (Exhibit 26).

40 Matanuska-Susitna  Borough Website,
http://www.matsugov.us/Port/portprojectinfo.cfm.

41 Knik Arm Bridge and Toll Authority, Annual Report 2004, p. 17 (Exhibit 27).

42 Stanton, Roll Call, May 14, 2007. 

43 Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3 April Quarterly 2003, February 28, 2005, pp.
44, 53, 71, 84 (Exhibit 28). 

ANWR for oil drilling and the trans-Atlantic pipeline,33 shepherding exploration legislation in
1995 and 2001.34

Also helpful to VECO were earmarks obtained by Sen. Ted Stevens and Rep. Young for a
barge dock development and deep-water marine port construction in Port MacKenzie, Alaska.35 
The port will allow VECO to deliver “gargantuan” oil filled modules,36 that house electronics and
oil-field equipment,37 by barge to the North Slope,38 the sight of a new oil well,39 which would
generate revenue for the company.40 

Additionally, VECO received $42,713 in federal funds for work the company provided in
the planning phases41 of “Don Young Way,” the bridge that would connect Knik Arm to
Anchorage.42

 
Association with PBS&J

Rep. Young has received campaign contributions from employees of Florida-based
construction firm PBS&J 43  Former PBS&J chairman, H. Michael Dye, pleaded guilty to
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44 Patrick Danner and Dan Christensen, Ex-PBS&J Exec Sentenced, Miami Herald,
August 4, 2007 (Exhibit 29).

45 Id.

46 Id.

47 Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly 2003, February 28, 2005, pp.
44, 53, 71, 84 (See Exhibit 28). 

48 FedSpending Database, Contracts to PBS&J (FY 2006), www.fedspending.org (Exhibit
30).  

49 Knik Bridge Facts Website,
http://www.knikbridgefacts.org/Documents/Cost_Estimate_Review_0606.pdf (Exhibit 31). 

50 Dennis Zaki, Alaska Republican Congressman Don Young in Serious Legal Trouble,
Alaska Report, July 16, 2007 (Exhibit 32). 

51 In Face Of Old Post Office Scandal, White House Must Disclose Meetings With
Lobbyist Abramoff, US Federal News,  January 25, 2006 (Exhibit 33)

violating federal campaign laws in July 2007.44  Mr. Dye’s and former chairman, Richard A.
Wickett’s scheme was exposed after a federal investigation revealed that they were reimbursing
PBS&J employees for making donations to favored candidates.45  It is difficult to tell just how
much money Mr. Dye and Mr. Wickett steered towards candidates because they used various
schemes to subvert campaign finance laws,46 but officially Rep. Young received $1,250.47  

Notably, PBS&J received a federal grant to conduct a study of the proposed Knik Arm
bridge48 and in June 2006, prepared a cost estimate review study analyzing the construction
planning of the Knik Arm bridge.49 

Ties to Jack Abramoff 

Rep. Young’s ties to convicted lobbyist Jack Abramoff are the subject of a grand jury
investigation.50

Old Post Office Pavilion 

 In September 2002, Rep. Young and  Rep. Steve LaTourette (R-OH) sent a letter to the
General Services Administration (GSA) urging it to “give preferential treatment to organizations
such as Indian tribes” during the development of the Old Post Office Pavilion in Washington, DC,
which would have benefitted Mr. Abramoff’s Indian clients.51  Five weeks after sending the letter
to the GSA, MSPAC received $7,000 from Mr. Abramoff’s tribal clients, the Agua Caliente of
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52 Midnight Sun Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3, Post-General Report 2002,
January 31, 2005, p. 6 (Exhibit 34). 

53 Id.; Midnight Sun Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2001,
January 28, 2005, p. 15 (Exhibit 35); Midnight Sun Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3,
July Quarterly 2002, July 15, 2002, p. 11 (Exhibit 36). 

54 Paul Singer, Ex-Staffer Helped Zachares Land Job with Panel, Roll Call, May 3, 2007
(Exhibit 37).

55 Id.

56 Id.

57 Susan Crabtree, Former Aide to Young Likely to Plead Guilty, The Hill, April 23, 2007
(Exhibit 38). 

58 Id.

59 Crabtree, The Hill, Apr. 23, 2007. 

California and the Mississippi Choctaws.52  In total, MSPAC received $12,000 from Mr.
Abramoff’s tribal clients during the 2002 election cycle.53

Aide Involvement

Members of Rep. Young’s staff have also been linked to Mr. Abramoff.  In May 2002,
Duane Gibson left his position as Rep. Young’s chief of staff to join Mr. Abramoff’s firm
Greenberg Traurig.  Before he left, Mr. Gibson recommended that former Commonwealth of the
Northern Mariana Islands (CNMI) secretary of Labor and Immigration, Mark Zachares be given a
job with the House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee, which Rep. Young chaired.54 
Mr. Zachares had a previous relationship with Mr. Abramoff dating from the lobbyist’s activities
on behalf of CNMI.55  Mr. Abramoff wanted Mr. Zachares in a position that would give him
access to lawmakers.56  

In April of 2007, Mr. Zachares pleaded guilty to bribery charges.57  In his plea agreement,
Mr. Zachares admitted that his intent was to use his position with the House Transportation and
Infrastructure Committee to steer clients to Greenberg Traurig, with the promise that eventually
Mr. Abramoff would hire him to lobby on behalf of those clients.58  Mr. Zachares also received a
2003 golf trip to Scotland, free meals and drinks at Mr. Abramoff’s restaurant, $30,000 worth of
sporting event and concert tickets and $10,000 cash from Mr. Abramoff.59  

MCI Center Skybox Tickets

After asserting in 2006 that he had never had a personal or professional relationship with
Jack Abramoff, it was revealed that in 2000, Rep. Young used Mr. Abramoff’s MCI Center
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60 Breshnan, Roll Call, Jan. 25, 2006. 

61 Daniel Bice, Action in Congress Paid Well For Troha, Milwaukee Journal Sentinel,
March 18, 2007 (Exhibit 39).

62 Id.
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65 Alaskans for Don Young Inc., FEC Form 3, July Quarterly Report 2005, June 13, 2005,
pp. 76, 77, 90-92 (Exhibit 40).  The Milwaukee Journal Sentinel reported that Mr. Troha, his
four family members and JHT executives have contributed $25,000 to Rep. Young. Bice,
Milwaukee Journal Sentinel, Mar. 18, 2007.

66 Marie Rohde, Kenosha Businessman Pleads Guilty in Federal Plea Deal, Milwaukee
Journal Sentinel, July 14, 2007 (Exhibit 41).

67 Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly Report 2007, May 22, 2007, p.
82 (Exhibit 42); Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, July Quarterly Report 2007, July 24,
2007, pp. 54, 103, 104 (Exhibit 43).

skybox tickets for two fund-raisers, which he did not report to the FEC until after the Abramoff
scandal broke.60 

Ties to Dennis Troha

In March of 2007, the FBI and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of
Wisconsin opened an investigation into an alleged deal involving Rep. Young, other congressmen
and convicted Wisconsin businessman Dennis Troha.61  

Rep. Young’s staffer inserted an amendment in the 2005 highway reauthorization bill, that
extended the maximum legal length of semi-truck trailers from 75 to 97 feet.62  Many truckers
opposed the legislation claiming it would be unsafe for drivers and others, but Mr. Troha and his
trucking conglomerate, JHT Holdings, disagreed.63  Despite the objections, the bill passed easing
federal hauling regulations and directly benefitting Mr. Troha’s company.64  According to
campaign records, three months before the legislation became law, Rep. Young received $22,000
from Mr. Troha, his family members, JHT executives and their spouses.65  In June of 2007, Mr.
Troha pleaded guilty to making illegal donations through family members to the Wisconsin
Democratic Party as well as President Bush’s campaign and is currently cooperating with the
government in other unspecified investigations.66

Legal Fees

In the first half of 2007, Rep. Young paid $264, 637 in legal fees.67 
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68 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(2)(A).

69 McCormick v. U.S., 500 U.S. 257, 273 (1991); United States v. Biaggi, 909 F.2d 662,
605 (2d Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 904 (1991).

70 18 U.S.C. § 1341.  

Acceptance of a Bribe

Federal law prohibits public officials from directly or indirectly demanding, seeking,
receiving, accepting, or agreeing to receive or accept anything of value in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.68  It is well-settled that accepting a contribution
to a political campaign can constitute a bribe if a quid pro quo can be demonstrated.69

If, as it appears, Rep. Young accepted donations to his campaign and political action
committees in direct exchange for earmarking federal funds for the Coconut Road project in
Florida, he may have violated the bribery statute. 

If, as it appears, Rep. Young accepted donations to his campaign and political action
committees in direct exchange for earmarking federal funds for the Port MacKenzie project, he
may have violated the bribery statute. 

If, as it appears, Rep. Young accepted campaign donations in direct exchange for
earmarking federal funds for PBS&J to conduct a study of the Knik Arm Bridge, he may have
violated the bribery statute. 

If, as it appears, Rep. Young accepted campaign donations from Jack Abramoff’s tribal
clients in return for sending a letter to the General Services Administration asking the agency to
give the tribes preferential treatment when awarding leases in the Old Post Office Pavilion, he
may have violated the bribery statute.

If, as it appears, Rep. Young accepted campaign donations from Dennis Troha and other
JHT executives in return for supporting legislation that would extend the maximum legal length 
of semi-truck trailers, he may have violated the bribery statute.

Honest Services Fraud

Federal law prohibits a member of Congress from depriving his constituents, the House of
Representatives, and the United States of the right of honest service, including conscientious,
loyal, faithful, disinterested, unbiased service, performed free of deceit, undue influence, conflict
of interest, self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, bribery, fraud and corruption.70  By using
his position as a member of Congress to financially benefit Daniel Arnoff, PBS&J, VECO, his
daughter and son-in-law, Daniel Troha and JHT, and tribal clients of Jack Abramoff, Rep. Young
may have deprived his constituents, the House of Representatives and the United States of his
honest services in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341.  
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71 18 U.S.C. § 201(c)(1)(B).  

72 United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. 398 (1999).

73 In the Matter of Representative Mario Biaggi, H.R. Rep. No. 100-506, 100th Cong., 2d
Sess. (1988) (recommending expulsion of the member from the House); In the Matter of
Representative Daniel J. Flood, H.R. Rep. No. 96-856, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. (1980).

74 See House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, “Memorandum For All Members,
Officers and Employees,” Rules Governing (1) Solicitation by Members, Officers and
Employees in General, and (2) Political Fundraising Activity in House Offices, April 25, 1997.

Illegal Gratuity

The illegal gratuity statute prohibits a public official from directly or indirectly
demanding, seeking, receiving, accepting, or agreeing to accept anything of value personally for
or because of any official act performed or to be performed by such official.71  In considering this
statute, the Supreme Court has held that a link must be established between the gratuity and a
specific action taken by or to be taken by the government official.72

If a link is established between Rep. Young’s actions of earmarking funds for the Coconut
Road project, PBS&J, the Knik Arm bridges and the Port MacKenzie project and contributions to
his campaign committee and PAC, Rep. Young may have violated the illegal gratuity statute.

If a link is established between Rep. Young’s sending a letter to the General Services
Administration on behalf of some of Jack Abramoff’s tribal clients and the contributions made to
his campaign committee by those tribes, Rep. Young may have violated the illegal gratuity
statute.

If a link is established between Rep. Young’s supporting legislation to change the
maximum length of semi-truck trailers and contributions made to his campaign committee and
PAC by Dennis Troha and other JHT executives, Rep. Young may have violated the illegal
gratuity statute.

In addition, the Committee on Standards of Official Conduct has used the acceptance of
bribes and gratuities under these statutes as a basis for disciplinary proceedings and punishment
of members, including expulsion.73

5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rules

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
House, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of people,
including “anyone who seeks official action from the House, does business with the House, or has
interests which may be substantially affected by the performance of official duties.”74  House Rule
23, clause 3, similarly provides: 
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75 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, “Memorandum For All Members,
Officers and Employees,” Prohibition Against Linking Official Actions to Partisan or Political
Considerations, or Personal Gain, May 11, 1999.

76 Id.

A Member, Delegate, Resident Commissioner, or employee
of the House may not receive compensation and may not permit
compensation to accrue to his beneficial interest from any
source, the receipt of which would occur by virtue of influence
improperly exerted from his position in the Congress.

If Rep. Young accepted campaign contributions from Daniel Arnoff, PBS&J and VECO 
in return for legislative assistance by way of earmarking federal funds for projects benefitting Mr.
Arnoff, PBS&J and VECO, he likely violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rule 23.

By accepting campaign contributions from Indian tribes in exchange for sending a letter to
the General Services Administration, Rep. Young likely violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rule
23.

By accepting campaign contributions from Dennis Troha and other JHT executives in
return for supporting legislation to change the maximum length of semi-truck trailers, Rep.
Young likely violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rule 23.

5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a)

Members of the House are prohibited from “taking any official actions for the prospect of
personal gain for themselves or anyone else.”75  House members are directed to adhere to 5 C.F.R.
§ 2635.702(a), issued by the U.S. Office of Government Ethics for the Executive Branch, which
provides:

An employee shall not use or permit use of his Government
position or title or any authority associated with his public
office in a manner that is intended to coerce or induce another
person . . . to provide any benefit, financial or otherwise,
to himself or to friends, relatives, or persons with whom the
employee is affiliated in a nongovernmental capacity.

The Code of Ethics also provides that government officials should “[n]ever discriminate unfairly
by the dispensing of special favors or privileges to anyone whether for remuneration or not.”76

By funneling federal funds to the Coconut Road project, PBS&J, the Knik Arm bridges, 
and the Port MacKenzie project, Rep. Young may have dispensed special favors in violation of 5
C.F.R. § 2635.702(a).
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77 2 U.S.C. § 431(8)(A)(i). 

78 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1).

79 2 U.S.C. § 434(a)-(b).

80 Rule 23, cl. 1.  

81 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, House Ethics Manual, p. 12.

82 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Report Under the Authority of H.
Res. 418, H. Rep. No. 1176, 90th Cong., 2d Sess. 17 (1968). 

83 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative John
J. McFall, H. Rep. No. 95-1742, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 2-3 (1978) (Count 1); In the Matter of
Representative Edward R. Roybal, H. Rep. No. 95-1743, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 2-3 (1978).

By writing a letter on behalf of Jack Abramoff’s tribal clients in exchange for campaign
contributions, Rep. Young may have dispensed special favors and violated 5 C.F.R. §
2635.702(a).

By changing the law concerning the length of semi-truck trailers in exchange for
campaign contributions, Rep. Young may have dispensed special favors in violation of 5 C.F.R. §
2635.702(a).

Federal Election Campaign Act

Federal campaign law defines “contribution” to include “any gift . . . or anything of
value.”77  “Anything of value” includes all in-kind contributions.78  Federal law requires
candidates and their authorized committees in a federal election to report to the Federal Election
Committee, according to a defined schedule, all contributions made to candidates and their
authorized committees in a federal election.79 

By failing to report his use of Jack Abramoff’s MCI Center skyboxes until after the
Abramoff scandal broke, Rep. Young violated federal campaign finance law.

Conduct Not Reflecting Creditably on the House

In addition, Rule 23 of the House Ethics Manual requires all members of the House to
conduct themselves “at all times in a manner that reflects creditably on the House.”80  This ethics
standard is considered to be “the most comprehensive provision” of the code.81  When this section
was first adopted, the Select Committee on Standards of Official Conduct of the 90th Congress
noted that it was included within the Code to deal with “flagrant” violations of the law that reflect
on “Congress as a whole,” and that might otherwise go unpunished.82  This rule has been relied on
by the Ethics Committee in numerous prior cases in which the Committee found unethical
conduct including: the failure to report campaign contributions,83 making false statements to the
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Charles H. Wilson (of California), H. Rep. No. 95-1741, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 4-5 (1978); H.
Rep. No. 95-1743(Counts 3-4). 

85 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative
Michael J. Myers, H. Rep. No. 96-1387, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 2, 5 (1980); see 126 Cong. Rec.
28953-78 (Oct. 2, 1980) (debate and vote of expulsion); In the Matter of Representative John W.
Jenrette, Jr., H. Rep. No. 96-1537, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 4 (1980) (Member resigned); In the
Matter of Representative Raymond F. Lederer, H. Rep. No. 97-110, 97th Cong., 1st Sess. 4, 16-
17 (1981) (Member resigned after Committee recommended expulsion). In another case, the
Committee issued a Statement of Alleged Violation concerning bribery and perjury, but took no
further action when the Member resigned (In the Matter of Representative Daniel J. Flood, H.
Rep. No. 96-856, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 4-16, 125-126 (1980)). 

86 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative Mario
Biaggi, H. Rep. No. 100-506, 100th Cong., 2d Sess. 7, 9 (1988) (Member resigned while
expulsion resolution was pending). 

87 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of Representative
Charles H. Wilson (of California), H. Rep. No. 96-930, 96th Cong. 2d Sess. 4-5 (1980); see 126
Cong. Rec. 13801-20 (June 10, 1980) (debate and vote of censure). 

88 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Committee Rules, Rule 15(f), 109th

Cong. (2005); see also Statement of Committee regarding Disposition of Complaint Filed
Against Tom DeLay: Memorandum of the Chairman and Ranking Member, p. 24, 108th Cong.,
2d Sess. (2004).

Committee,84 criminal convictions for bribery,85 or accepting illegal gratuities,86 and accepting
gifts from persons with interest in legislation in violation of the gift rule.87

Rep. Young apparently accepted campaign contributions in return for legislative favors
that financially benefitted personal friends, relatives and favored businessmen.  Accepting
anything of value in exchange for official action does not reflect creditably on the House and,
therefore, violates House Rule 23, clause 1.

Deferral to Department of Justice

The fact that the Department of Justice is currently conducting four separate criminal
investigations of Rep. Young and his relationships with VECO, Dennis Troha and Jack Abramoff 
should not be a basis for the Committee to defer any investigation into, or action on, Rep.
Young’s ethical violations.  Under the Committee on Standards of Official Conduct Rule 15(f),
the Committee “may defer action on a complaint against a Member” if: 1) “the complaint alleges
conduct that the Committee has reason to believe is being reviewed by appropriate law
enforcement or regulatory authorities,” or 2) “the Committee determines that it is appropriate for
the conduct alleged in a complaint to be reviewed initially by law enforcement or regulatory
authorities.”88
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89 Statement of Committee regarding Disposition of Complaint Filed Against Tom
DeLay, (quoting House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Policy of the House of
Representatives with Respect to Actions by Members Convicted of Certain Crimes, H. Rep. 94-
76, 94th Cong., 1st Sess. 2 (1975)).

90 House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, Statement of Committee regarding
Disposition of Complaint Filed Against Tom DeLay.

A 1975 Committee report explained the Committee’s approach in the circumstances of an
ongoing investigation by law enforcement authorities as follows:

[W]here an allegation involves a possible violation of statutory
law, and the committee is assured that the charges are known to
and are being expeditiously acted upon by the appropriate
authorities, the policy has been to defer action until the judicial
proceedings have run their course.  This is not to say the 
committee abandons concern in statutory matters – rather, it
feels it normally should not undertake duplicative investigations
pending judicial resolution of such cases.89

Under Rule 15(f):

[D]eferral by the Committee where there is an ongoing law
enforcement proceeding is not mandatory, but rather is
discretionary.  Historically, the Committee has been more
reluctant to defer where the Member conduct that is at
issue is related to the discharge of his or her official duties
as a Member of the House.90

Rep. Young’s conduct unquestionably is related to the discharge of his official duties as a
member of the House, as it raises the issues of whether he received financial assistance, bribes, or
illegal gratuities as quid pro quos for exercising his congressional powers to benefit Daniel
Arnoff, PBS&J, VECO, tribal clients of Jack Abramoff and Dennis Troha and JHT.  As a result,
given the Committee’s precedents, a Committee investigation into Rep. Young’s activities is
appropriate.
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91 Susan Crabtree and Manu Raju, Reid Wants DOJ Probe of Coconut Road, The Hill,
April 15, 2008 (Exhibit 44). 

92 Id.

93 Susan Crabtree, Senate Calls for the Probe of Coconut Road, The Hill, April 17, 2008;
Jonathan Weisman, House Says Earmark Merits Criminal Probe, Washington Post, May 1, 2008
(Exhibit 45). 

94 Paul Kane, Congress May Seek Criminal Probe of Altered Earmark, Washington Post,
April 17, 2008 (Exhibit 46). 

95 Kane, Washington Post, Apr. 17, 2008.

96 Carrie Johnson and Paul Kane, Sen. Stevens Indicted on 7 Corruption Counts,
Washington Post, July 30, 2008 (Exhibit 47). 

97 Steve Quinn, Aide to Former Governor Pleads Guilty to Fraud in Corruption Probe,
Associated Press, March 4, 2008 (Exhibit 48). 

2008 Update

Earmarking Transportation Funds to a Campaign Donor

In April 2008, Senate Majority Leader Harry Reid called for a Department of Justice
(DOJ) investigation into the 2005 earmark that was inserted for the interchange at Coconut
Road.91  Congress split on how best to handle the inquiry, some called for an external
investigation while others argued that Congress itself was best equipped to handle the matter.92 
Ultimately, both the House and Senate voted to direct the DOJ to launch an investigation into the
earmark.93  After the calls for an inquiry, Rep. Young admitted that he sponsored the Coconut
Road earmark and that his staff “corrected” the earmark before the bill went to the White House
to be signed by the president.94  Rep. Young’s office has denied that the fundraiser held by Mr.
Aronoff was the motive for sponsoring the earmark.95

Association with VECO Corporation

The corruption probe of VECO which includes Rep. Young is ongoing96 and has led to
conviction of several of his fellow Alaskan politicians. In March of 2008, the chief of staff to
former Alaska Governor Frank Murkowski, Jim Clark, pleaded guilty to charges that he conspired
with VECO executives to hide of $68,000 from state election regulators.97  In December of 2007,
former Alaska state representative Pete Kott was sentenced to six years in prison for his part in
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98 Lawmaker Jailed for Taking Bribes, Edmonton Journal, December 8, 2007 (Exhibit
49). 

99 Johnson and Kane, Washington Post, July 20, 2008.

100 Patrick Danner and Dan Christensen, Ex-PBS&J Boss Sentenced to Home
Confinement, Miami Herald, May 9, 2008 (Exhibit 50). 

101 Danner and Christensen, Miami Herald, May 9, 2008.

102 Richard Mauer, Billing Records Expose Young, Abramoff Ties, Anchorage Daily
News, April 20, 2008 (Exhibit 51). 

103 Id.

104 Id.

105 Id.

106 Mauer, Anchorage Daily News, Apr. 20, 2008.

 accepting bribes from VECO executives.98  On July 29, 2008, Sen. Ted Stevens (R-AK) was
indicted on seven counts of failing to disclose gifts he received from VECO CEO Bill Allen.99

Association with PBS&J

Three PBS&J executives have been convicted for their part in a long-running scheme to
circumvent campaign election laws.100  In October 2007, the Federal Election Commission
launched it’s own investigation into the illegal campaign contributions and use of political action
committees by PBS&J.101 

Ties to Jack Abramoff 

Rep. Young has argued that he never had a close relationship with Jack Abramoff but new
records indicate the opposite.102  Records from two of Mr. Abramoff’s law firms show over 120
contacts with Rep. Young and his staff – including ten with Rep. Young himself – over a 25
month period.103  The records relate to only one of Mr. Abramoff’s clients, the Commonwealth of
the Northern Mariana Islands, from the years 1995 to 2001-- the same years that Rep. Young
oversaw the U.S. Territory as the chair of the House Resource Committee.104  The records indicate
that Mr. Abramoff was very concerned about  legislation that would have reformed labor and
immigration practices on the islands against the interests of his client.105  The bill, introduced by
Sen. Frank Murkowski passed the Senate unanimously but was killed in the House by Rep.
Young who refused to hold a hearing in his committee, claiming the alleged labor abuses were
just rumors perpetuated by unions and hyped by the media.106 
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109 John Diedrich, Judge Gives Troha Probation, No Fine, Milwaukee Journal Sentinel,
March 7, 2008 (Exhibit 52). 

110 Id.

111 Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, July Quarterly Report 2008, July 15, 2008, pp.
40, 41, 87, 88, 93; Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly Report 2008, April
15, 2008, pp. 64, 100, 113, 120; Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly
Report 2007, October 15, 2007, pp. 84, 135; Alaskans for Don Young, FEC Form 3, Year End
Report 2007, January 31, 2008, pp. 31, 32, 68, 69, 75, 76 (Exhibit 53). 

112 Susan Crabtree, Don Young Opens a Legal Defense Fund, The Hill, January 30, 2008;
Congressman Don Young Legal Expense Trust, filed January 14, 2008 (Exhibit 54). 

113 Congressman Don Young Legal Expense Trust, filed July 30, 2008 (Exhibit 55). 

When Rep. Young was forced by term limits to give up the chairmanship of the resources
committee in 2001, Mr. Abramoff wrote a memo to the governor of the islands expressing
concern stating, “the loss of Chairman Young's authority cannot easily be measured -- or
replaced.”107  Nevertheless, as Rep. Young took over the chairmanship of the transportation
committee, Mr. Abramoff began looking for new ways to exploit his relationship with Rep.
Young.  One of Mr. Abramoff’s colleagues sent him an email suggested a meeting with one of
Rep. Young’s top aides noting, “Young should be there [the transportation committee] for six
years -- that is plenty of time to develop appropriate clients, sign them up and deliver.”108

Ties to Dennis Troha

In March of 2008, Mr. Troha was sentenced to probation for his role in an illegal political
donation scheme.109  Mr. Troha received a lighter sentence in exchange for his cooperation in the
ongoing investigation.110  

Legal Fees

Rep. Young continues to pay legal fees in connection with several ongoing investigations. 
Since July of 2007, Rep. Young’s campaign committee paid $993,655.28 in legal fees.111  By
January of 2008, Rep. Young opened a legal defense fund,112 which, by July 2008, had paid out
$49,415.25 in legal fees.113
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1 James V. Grimaldi, A Reading Program’s Powerful Patron, Washington Post, December
20, 2007 (Exhibit 1). 

2 Id.

3 Id. 

4 Id.

5 Grimaldi, Washington Post, Dec. 20, 2007.

6 Id.

7 Friends of Mary Landrieu Inc., FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2001, January 31, 2002,
pp. 16-18, 66, 69, 77, 78, 125, 126, 148, 149, 154, 155, 158, 199 (Exhibit 2). 

SEN. MARY LANDRIEU

 Sen. Mary Landrieu (D-LA) is a second-term senator from Louisiana. Her ethics issues
stem from her insertion of an earmark into an appropriations bill to benefit a large campaign
donor.

Earmark for Voyager Learning

The Voyager Expanded Learning literacy program had no proven track record when
Congress appropriated $2 million in the fall of 2001 to be spent on the program, aimed at District
of Columbia kindergartners and first graders.1  Voyager’s founder, Randy Best, had hired former
Rep. Bob Livingston (R-LA) to help get Voyager’s programs into schools without having to sell
the curricula to any district school systems.2  On September 24, 2001, the House Appropriations
Committee included $1 million for Voyager in the District of Columbia’s appropriations bill
with the condition that the District provide an additional $1 million.3   When Mr. Livingston was
unable to obtain a similar earmark in the Senate, Voyager hired the lobbying firm of O’Connor
& Hannon, which arranged for Mr. Best to meet with Sen. Landrieu, the chair of the
Appropriations subcommittee responsible for the District of Columbia.4

After Mr. Best met with Sen. Landrieu, a member of the senator’s staff called to ask him
if he would throw a campaign fundraiser for her.5  On October 19, 2001, Mr. Best threw a
fundraiser for Sen. Landrieu at his home in Dallas, Texas where, according to Mr. Best, Sen.
Landrieu gave a short talk on the importance of reading.6  According to Federal Election
Commission (FEC) records, on or about November 2, 2001, Sen. Landrieu’s campaign
committee received contributions of approximately $30,000 from Voyager employees and their
relatives.7  FEC records reflect that neither Mr. Best nor the others connected with Voyager had
previously contributed to Sen. Landrieu’s campaign committee.  

Four days after the contributions were received, on November 6, 2001, when the
Senate took up consideration of the District of Columbia appropriations bill passed by the
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8 Grimaldi, Washington Post, Dec. 20, 2007. 

9 Letter from CREW Executive Director Melanie Sloan to Attorney General Michael
Mukasey, January 8, 2008 (Exhibit 3).

10 Press Release, Office of Senator Mary Landrieu, Statement Regarding CREW
Complaint, January 8, 2008 (Exhibit 4).

11 James Grimaldi, Landrieu Opens Files on Schools Earmark, Washingtonpost.com,
January 22, 2008 (Exhibit 5). 

12 Letter from Paul L. Vance, Superintendent District of Columbia Public Schools to
Mike DeWine, Chair and Mary Landrieu, Ranking Democrat, District of Columbia
Appropriations Subcommittee, April 25, 2001 (Exhibit 6).

13 Kathleen Hunter, Landrieu Denies Ethics Allegation by Watchdog Group,
Congressional Quarterly, January 9, 2008 (Exhibit 7); Letter from Sen. Mary Landrieu to Mike
DeWine, Chair, Subcommittee on District of Columbia Appropriations, May 15, 2001 (Exhibit
8); see also Office of Sen. Mary Landrieu, Voyager Earmark Timeline, available at: 
http://landrieu.senate.gov/news/Voyager.cfm  (Exhibit 9).

14 Grimaldi, Washingtonpost.com, Jan. 22, 2008.

15 Id.

House, Sen. Landrieu successfully lobbied for a $2 million earmark for the reading program.8 

Sen. Landrieu, who refused to speak with The Washington Post before the paper ran its
initial story on the Voyager earmark, put out a statement after CREW sent a letter to the
Department of Justice requesting an investigation.9  Sen. Landrieu claimed that CREW’s
complaint was “factually flawed,” “wholly without merit,” and “readily dismissed by the
facts.”10  Sen. Landrieu explained that she met with Mr. Best on April 5, 2001, at which time he
asked for her support for Voyager and she replied she would consider it if District of Columbia
officials supported it.11  Sen. Landrieu provided an April 25, 2001 letter from D.C. School
Superintendent Paul Vance, in which he stated the letter was “in support of the request presented
to you by Voyager for an additional appropriation beyond the requested District of Columbia
budget for fiscal year 2002.”12  Sen. Landrieu’s spokesperson claimed that the earmark followed
the same process as every other earmark, noting that Sen. Landrieu sent Sen. Mike DeWine, then
the chairman of the District of Columbia Appropriations Subcommittee, a letter on May 15, 2001
in which her $3.5 million earmark request for Voyager was included.13  

According to The Washington Post however, Mr. Vance neither initiated the letter nor
supported Voyager, rather the idea was passed to the schools through the office of Mayor
Anthony Williams.14 Greg McCarthy, then-deputy chief of staff for Mayor Williams, said the
Voyager earmark was not the mayor’s idea, but that Sen. Landrieu's office had called to find out
if the schools would be willing to use Voyager.15  Mr. McCarthy encouraged school officials to
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18 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(2)(A).

19 McCormick v. U.S., 500 U.S. 257, 273 (1991); United States v. Biaggi, 909 F.2d 662,
605 (2d Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 904 (1991).

support it because reading scores were so poor.  As a result, school district officials, who were
initially resistant because they had just selected a different reading program, felt compelled to
take the money from the earmark.16

Sen. Landrieu argued the complaint and media reports “erroneously mischaracterize” her
relationship to Mr. Best and said “it is not uncommon for Members of Congress to receive
contributions from individuals who support their policy goals.”17 

Acceptance of a Bribe

Federal law prohibits public officials from directly or indirectly demanding, seeking,
receiving, accepting, or agreeing to receive or accept anything of value in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.18  It is well-settled that accepting a contribution
to a political campaign can constitute a bribe if a quid pro quo can be demonstrated.19

Here, after meeting with Voyager founder Randy Best someone from Sen. Landrieu’s
staff asked Mr. Best to hold a fundraiser for the senator, which he did.  Shortly thereafter, Sen.
Landrieu received $30,000 in campaign contributions from individuals connected with Voyager
and a mere four days after that, the senator inserted an earmark for Voyager into the District of
Columbia appropriations bill.  Even if, as she claims, Sen. Landrieu had agreed to push the
earmark earlier in the year, neither Mr. Best nor his colleagues had ever previously donated to
Sen. Landrieu and did so only after the senator had agreed to earmark an appropriation for
Voyager.  This may well constitute a direct exchange in violation of the bribery statute.

5 U.S.C. § 7353

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
Congress, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of
people, including “anyone seeking official action from, doing business with, or . . . conducting 
activities regulated by the individual’s employing entity; or whose interests may be substantially
affected by the performance or nonperformance of the individual’s official duties.”

If Sen. Landrieu sought campaign contributions from Voyager in exchange for inserting
an earmark for the company into the District of Columbia appropriations bill, she may have
violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353. 
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20 Improper Conduct Reflecting Upon the Senate and General Principles of Public
Service, Senate Ethics Manual, Appendix E, p. 432.

21 Id.

22 Id. at 433; see also fn. 10 citing a 1964 investigation into the activities of Bobby Baker,
then-Secretary to the Majority of the Senate, the Committee on Rules and Administration, which
stated, “It is possible for anyone to follow the ‘letter of the law’ and avoid being indicted for a
criminal act, but in the case of employees of the Senate, they are expected, and rightly so, to
follow not only the ‘letter’ but also the ‘spirit’ of the law.”  S. Rep. No. 1175, 88th Cong., 2d
Sess. 5 (1964).

Senate Rule Prohibiting Improper Conduct

The Senate Ethics Manual provides that “ [c]ertain conduct has been deemed by the
Senate in prior cases to be unethical and improper even though such conduct may not necessarily
have violated any written law, or Senate rule or regulation.  Such conduct has been characterized
as “improper conduct which may reflect upon the Senate.”20  This rule is intended to protect the
integrity and reputation of the Senate as a whole.21  The Ethics Manual explains that “improper 
conduct” is given meaning by considering “generally accepted standards of conduct, the letter
and spirit of laws and Rules. . .”22 

Whether or not Sen. Landrieu violated federal bribery laws, by accepting campaign
contributions in apparent exchange for an earmark, she has engaged in improper conduct that
reflects upon the Senate. 
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1 http://www.batescapitol.com/bio.htm (Exhibit 1). 

2 John Cheves, A Lucrative Connection: Lobbyist’s Close Ties To Senator Pay Off For
Them Both And Client, Lexington Herald-Leader, October 22, 2006 (Exhibit 2).

3 Id.

4 Cheves, Lexington Herald-Leader, Oct. 22, 2006; Matt Kelley and Peter Eisler,
Relatives Have ‘Inside Track’ In Lobbying for Tax Dollars; No Laws Prevent Family Members
From Trying To Influence Lawmakers Or Top Congressional Staffers, USA Today, October 17,
2006 (Exhibit 3).

5 Cheves, Lexington Herald-Leader, Oct. 22, 2006; Senator McConnell Secures Over $13
Million In Funding For Transit Project In Kentucky, US Fed News, November 18, 2005 (Exhibit
4).

SEN. MITCH MCCONNELL

Senator Mitch McConnell (R-KY) is a fourth-term senator from Kentucky.  He is the
minority leader in the 110th Congress and sits on the Senate Appropriations Committee.  Sen.
McConnell’s ethics issues stem from earmarks he has inserted into legislation for clients of his
former chief of staff in exchange for campaign contributions as well as the misuse of his
nonprofit McConnell Center for Political Leadership at the University of Louisville. Sen
McConnell was included in CREW’s 2007 congressional corruption report. 

Gordon Hunter Bates and the Bates Capitol Group LLC

Gordon Hunter Bates served as Sen. McConnell’s chief legal counsel and chief of staff
from 1997 to 2002.1  After a 2003 lawsuit ended his bid for lieutenant governor of Kentucky he
opened a lobbying firm, Bates Capitol Group LLC (Bates Capitol).2   Mr. Bates’ business has
been aided by his connection to Sen. McConnell.  Rusty Thompson, a Versailles, Kentucky
tobacco farmer and board member of the Burley Tobacco Cooperative, a Bates Capitol client,
said that Sen. McConnell told him “you need to hire Hunter Bates, I can work with Hunter
Bates.”3  The Bates Capitol Group has employed other former staffers of Sen. McConnell
including: Holly Piper, wife of Sen. McConnell’s chief of staff Bill Piper and a former Sen.
McConnell aide herself, Patrick Jennings and Lesley Elliot.4   Bates Capitol clients include E-
Cavern, Voice for Humanity, Appriss Inc. and Boardpoint LLC, all of which have received 
earmarks thanks to Sen. McConnell.  In addition, the senator rewrote legislation to help another
Bates Group client, UPS Inc.  All of these companies have made substantial contributions to Sen.
McConnell’s campaigns.

E-Cavern

In tandem with the University of Louisville and the University of Kentucky, E-Cavern
has been attempting to build an underground computer data storage center near the Louisville
Airport.5  E-Cavern unsuccessfully lobbied the Kentucky congressional delegation to support
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6 Cheves, Lexington Herald-Leader, Oct. 22, 2006.

7 Sen. McConnell Secures Funding For E-Cavern Project, US Fed News, November 22,
2004 (Exhibit 5).

8 Cheves, Lexington Herald-Leader, Oct. 22, 2006; States News Service, Nov. 18, 2005.

9 Congress Passes Transportation, Treasury, Housing, And Urban Developement
Appropriations Measure, US Fed News, June 17, 2006 (Exhibit 6).

10 Senator McConnell Secures Funding For Two University Of Kentucky Financial
Services Projects, States News Service, July 12, 2007 (Exhibit 7).

11 Bates Capitol Group, LLC, Lobbying Reports 2003-2006, Secretary of the Senate,
Office of Public Record (Exhibit 8).

12 McConnell Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2005, October
14, 2005, pp. 270, 282 (Exhibit 9).

13 Bluegrass Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2004, October 15, 2004,
p. 156 (Exhibit 10); McConnell Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report
2005, October 14, 2005, pp. 270, 282 (See Exhibit 9); Bluegrass Committee, FEC Form 3,
October Quarterly Report 2006, October 13, 2006, pp. 87, 93, 94 (Exhibit 11). Notably, Mark
Roy’s contributions to the Bluegrass Committee were designated Earmarked Intermediary Out
(EIO), meaning they were passed along by Sen. McConnell’s Bluegrass Committee to another
political committee.

this project for three years before hiring Bates Capitol in 2003.6  Soon after E-Cavern hired Bates
Capitol, Sen. McConnell earmarked $1 million for the underground project in the fiscal year
(FY) ‘05 Omnibus Appropriations Conference Report.7  In 2005, Sen. McConnell inserted an
additional  $1.5 million earmark for E-Cavern into the FY ‘06 Transportation, Judiciary and
Housing and Urban Development Appropriations Conference Report.8  In 2006, Sen. McConnell
earmarked $1 million for E-Cavern in the FY ‘07 Transportation, Treasury, and Housing and
Urban Development Appropriations bill.9  In July of 2007, Sen. McConnell took credit for
another $1 million earmark for the E-Cavern project in the FY ‘08 Senate Financial Services and
General Government Appropriations bill.10

Between July 2003 and December 2006, E-Cavern paid Bates Capitol $460,000 for
lobbying.11  In August of 2005, E-Cavern president Mark Roy and executive James Philpolt each
contributed $1,000 to the McConnell Senate Committee.12  Between August of 2004 and August
of 2006, Mr. Philpolt and Mr. Roy donated $8,500 to the McConnell Senate Committee and Sen.
McConnell’s leadership PAC, the Bluegrass Committee.13  FEC records reflect that neither Mr.
Philpolt nor Mr. Roy previously contributed to Sen. McConnell’s campaign committee or PAC. 
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14 The Bates Capitol Group LLC, Lobbying Report 2004-2006, Secretary of the Senate,
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Appropriations Bill, States News Service, December 22, 2005 (Exhibit 13).

16 McConnell Senate Committee FEC Form 3, Year End Report 2005, January 1, 2006, p.
15 (Exhibit 14).

17 Voice for Humanity, IRS 2005 Form 990, October 27, 2006 (Exhibit 15).

18 Linda B. Blackford, Voice For Humanity Finds Friendly Ears In Washington,
Lexington Herald-Leader, December 18, 2005 (Exhibit 16).

19 Id.

20 Id.

21 The Bates Capitol Group LLC Lobbying Report 2003-2006, Secretary of the Senate,
Office of Public Record (Exhibit 17).

22 Blackford, Lexington Herald-Leader, Dec.18, 2005.

Boardpoint LLC

Boardpoint LLC hired Bates Capitol in early 2004, paying between $280,000 and
$290,000 in lobbying fees through December 2006.14  In December of 2005, Sen. McConnell
announced a $2.1 million earmark from the Department of Defense for Accella Learning, a
division of Boardpoint, to create an “intelligent tutoring system” for medical personnel.15  Just
two months earlier, Boardpoint Director Joe Coons donated $2,100 to the McConnell Senate
Committee.16

Voice for Humanity

Voice for Humanity is a non-profit organization17 originally formed by two Lexington 
businessmen to spread the word of Christ throughout the world.18  Their mission changed
however when they began receiving federal funding in 2004 thanks to earmarks introduced by
Sen. McConnell in his role as chair of the Senate Appropriations Subcommittee on Foreign
Operations.19  The company now creates small audio devices that are sent to third world
countries to play messages promoting democracy and warning about the dangers of HIV/AIDS.20 

Voice for Humanity hired Bates Capitol in July 2003, paying the lobbying firm between
$240,000 and $260,000 in lobbying fees between 2003 and 2006.21  In October 2003, Sen.
McConnell delivered a speech on the Senate floor praising Voice for Humanity.22  Between 2003
and December 2005, Sen. McConnell steered $8.3 million in federal funds to the organization
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27 McConnell Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly Report 2007, April 13,
2007, pp. 223, 331 (Exhibit 20); McConnell Majority Committee, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly
Report 2007, April 12, 2007, p. 107 (Exhibit 21).

28 Cheves, Lexington Herald-Leader, Oct. 22, 2006.

29 http://www.appriss.com/sitedocs/VINECutSheet.pdf (Exhibit 22).

30 http://www.appriss.com/ (Exhibit 23).

31 Sarah Jeffords, Appriss Adds Contracts, Products, Workers, Business First of
Louisville, September 25, 2006 (Exhibit 24).

from the State Department for devices to be sent to Afghanistan and Nigeria.23  A program
evaluation conducted by USAID found that the organization’s programs produced mixed
results.24  Nevertheless, Sen. McConnell recommended an additional $15 million for Voice for
Humanity to extend its work into Iran and North Korea.25  

FEC records reflect that Voice for Humanity founder Michael Kane never contributed to
Sen. McConnell’s campaigns before the senator began earmarking for the organization, but in
2004 he donated $1,000 to Sen. McConnell’s leadership PAC, and in 2005 donated $4,200 to his
campaign committee.26   Voice for Humanity director Samuel Mitchell, who like Mr. Kane
previously had not contributed to Sen. McConnell’s campaigns, has contributed a total of $9,600
to the McConnell Senate Committee and to Sen. McConnell’s joint fund-raising committee, the
McConnell Majority Committee.27  

Appriss Inc.

Appriss Inc. is a Louisville based company that sells communication technology to law
enforcement and owns VINE, the National Victim Notification Network.28  VINE is the largest
data network providing victim notification systems in the country.29  Appriss has been providing
technology such as VINE since 1994.30  VINE data network technology did not become widely
used, however, until after Appriss hired Bates Capitol.31 

After Appriss hired Bates Capitol in 2004, Sen. McConnell praised Appriss in a 2004
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the Bluegrass Committee were marked EIO; McConnell Majority Committee, FEC Form 3,
April Quarterly Report 2007, April 12, 2007, pp. 33, 42, 115, 133, 164, 169 (Exhibit 30);
McConnell Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2005, October 14, 2005,
pp. 122, 173, 243, 278, 291, 330, 331 (Exhibit 31); McConnell Senate Committee, FEC Form 3,
April Quarterly Report 2007, April 13, 2007, pp. 259, 395, 422 (Exhibit 32).

38 Bluegrass Committee, FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 1997, January 30, 1998, p. 4
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54 (Exhibit 35); Bluegrass Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2004, October
15, 2004, pp. 73, 74 (Exhibit 36); Bluegrass Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report
2006, October 13, 2006, pp. 29, 30 (Exhibit 37); McConnell Majority Committee, FEC Form 3,
April Quarterly Report 2007, April 12, 2007, p. 33 (Exhibit 38); McConnell Senate Committee,
FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2001, January 31, 2002, p. 23 (Exhibit 39); McConnell Senate
Committee, FEC Form 3, July Quarterly Report 2003, July 15, 2003, p. 1 (Exhibit 40);
McConnell Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2005, October 14, 2005,

news conference.32  Between 2004 and 2006, Appriss paid Bates Capitol $320,000.33 During the
same period, Sen. McConnell sat on a small Senate budget negotiations team that earmarked $17
million in the Department of Justice’s budget to purchase victim notification systems.34  Between
January and September 2006, four states signed contracts to use VINE and Appriss expected to
add six more state-wide contracts by the end of 2006.35  The increase in VINE contracts can be
attributed to the increase in federal funding earmarked for victim-notifications programs.36

Since 2004, ApprissPAC as well as individual Appriss employees and their spouses have
contributed $55,000 to Sen. McConnell’s leadership PAC, joint fundraising committee, and
campaign committee.37  Dating back to 1997, Appriss CEO Douglass Cobb and his wife, Gena
Cobb, have contributed $29,000 to Sen. McConnell: $12,000 between 1997 and 2002, $6,000 in
2003, and $11,000 since early 2004.38  Appriss director David Grissom donated $5,000 to Sen.
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42 United Parcel Service Inc. PAC, FEC Form 3, August Monthly Report 2004, August
19, 2004, p. 151 (Exhibit 46); United Parcel Service Inc. PAC, FEC Form 3, September Monthly
Report 2005, September 19, 2005, p. 331 (Exhibit 47).

43 Mark Pitsch, Foundation Releases Donor List; U Of L Includes McConnell Center
Gifts, Courier-Journal, December 14, 2004 (Exhibit 48).

44 http://louisville.edu/mcconnellcenter/about/ (Exhibit 49).

45 The Money Funnels, www.kentucky.com, October 15, 2006 (Exhibit 50).

46 Pitsch, Courier-Journal, Dec. 14, 2004.

McConnell’s Bluegrass Committee in 2003 and donated $3,000 to the McConnell Senate
Committee in 2005.39  

UPS

UPS has been a Bates Capitol client since 2003, having paid the firm $320,000 as of the
end of 2006.40  In 2004, Sen. McConnell lobbied President Bush to include the UPS pension fund
in a bill that allowed large employers to delay pension fund contributions for two years because
of stock market losses.41  The UPS PAC contributed $10,000 to the McConnell Senate
Committee between July 2004 and August 200542 and the company has donated $400,000 to the
McConnell Center for Political Leadership at the University of Louisville.43

The McConnell Center for Political Leadership

The McConnell Center for Political Leadership was founded by Sen. McConnell in
199144 as a non-profit organization for which the senator raises funds.45  The University of
Louisville Foundation was sued by the Courier Journal of Louisville, Kentucky because the
center insisted on maintaining the anonymity of its donors.46  In November 2004, a Kentucky
court ordered the foundation to release the names of corporate donors, including donations made
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47 Id.

48 Id.

49 Id.

50 www.kentucky.com, Oct.15, 2006.

51 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(2)(A).

52 McCormick v. U.S., 500 U.S. 257, 273 (1991); United States v. Biaggi, 909 F.2d 662,
605 (2d Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 904 (1991).

53 18 U.S.C. § 1341.  

to the McConnell Center.47  Sen. McConnell and the University of Louisville Foundation had
maintained that donors’ identities were kept confidential at the request of donors, although an
official from at least one corporate donor, Toyota Motor Manufacturing of North America, said,
“Toyota’s never made any secret of our contribution to the McConnell program.”48  Two of the
largest donors to the McConnell Center are Ashland Inc. and UPS, which have donated $500,000
and $400,000 respectively.49 Some donations to the McConnell Center have been delivered to
Sen. McConnell’s Capitol Hill office.50

Acceptance of a Bribe

Federal law prohibits public officials from directly or indirectly demanding, seeking,
receiving, accepting, or agreeing to receive or accept anything of value in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.51  It is well-settled that accepting a contribution
to a political campaign can constitute a bribe if a quid pro quo can be demonstrated.52

If, as it appears, Sen. McConnell accepted donations to his campaign and political action
committees in direct exchange for earmarking federal funds to clients of Bates Capitol, he may
have violated the bribery statute.  Similarly, if he provided legislative assistance in return for
contributions to the McConnell Center he may have violated the bribery statute.

Honest Services Fraud

Federal law prohibits a member of Congress from depriving his constituents, the United
States Senate, and the United States of the right of honest service, including conscientious, loyal,
faithful, disinterested, unbiased service, performed free of deceit, undue influence, conflict of
interest, self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, bribery, fraud and corruption.53  By using his
position as a member of Congress to financially benefit clients of a lobbying firm owned by his
former staff member, Sen. McConnell may be depriving his constituents, the United States
Senate and the United States of his honest services in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341.  
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54 18 U.S.C. § 201(c)(1)(B).  

55 United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 526 U.S. 398 (1999).

Illegal Gratuity

The illegal gratuity statute prohibits a public official from directly or indirectly
demanding, seeking, receiving, accepting, or agreeing to accept anything of value personally for
or because of any official act performed or to be performed by such official.54  In considering
this statute, the Supreme Court has held that a link must be established between the gratuity and
a specific action taken by or to be taken by the government official.55

If a link is established between Sen. McConnell’s actions to earmark funds for clients of
Bates Capitol and the campaign donations and donations made to his PAC by Bates Capitol’s
clients, or if a link is established between contributions made to the McConnell Center and
legislative assistance provided by Sen. McConnell, Sen. McConnell would be in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 201(c)(1)(B).

5 U.S.C. § 7353

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
Congress, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of
people, including “anyone seeking official action from, doing business with, or . . . conducting
activities regulated by the individual’s employing entity; or whose interests may be substantially
affected by the performance or nonperformance of the individual’s official duties.”

If Sen. McConnell sought campaign contributions from either Bates Capitol or any of the
organizations for which he inserted earmarks, including E-Cavern, Boardpoint, Voice for
Humanity or Appriss, Inc., in exchange for those earmarks, he may have violated 5 U.S.C. §
7353.  Similarly, if he sought contributions for the McConnell Center in return for legislative
assistance, Sen. McConnell may have violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353.

5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a)

5 C.F. R. § 2635.702(a) prohibits government employees, including members of the
Senate from “taking any official actions for the prospect of personal gain for themselves or
anyone else.”  Specifically, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a), issued by the U.S. Office of Government
Ethics for the Executive Branch, provides:

An employee shall not use or permit use of his Government
position or title or any authority associated with his public
office in a manner that is intended to coerce or induce another
person . . . to provide any benefit, financial or otherwise,
to himself or to friends, relatives, or persons with whom the
employee is affiliated in a nongovernmental capacity.
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56 Improper Conduct Reflecting Upon the Senate and General Principles of Public
Service, Senate Ethics Manual, Appendix E, p. 432.

57 Id.

58 Id. at 433; see also fn. 10 citing a 1964 investigation into the activities of Bobby Baker,
then Secretary to the Majority of the Senate, the Committee on Rules and Administration, which
stated, “It is possible for anyone to follow the ‘letter of the law’ and avoid being indicted for a
criminal act, but in the case of employees of the Senate, they are expected, and rightly so, to
follow not only the ‘letter’ but also the ‘spirit’ of the law.”  S. Rep. No. 1175, 88th Cong., 2d
Sess. 5 (1964).

59 Senate Ethics Manual, p. 434.

60 Id. at 435.

61 Id.

62 Id. at 436.

By funneling federal funds to clients of Bates Capitol, the lobbying firm of his former
aide, Gordon Hunter Bates, Sen. McConnell may have dispensed special favors in violation of 5
C.F.R. § 2635.702(a).

Senate Rule Prohibiting Improper Conduct

The Senate Ethics Manual provides that “[c]ertain conduct has been deemed by the
Senate in prior cases to be unethical and improper even though such conduct may not necessarily
have violated any written law, or Senate rule or regulation.  Such conduct has been characterized
as “improper conduct which may reflect upon the Senate.”56  This rule is intended to protect the
integrity and reputation of the Senate as a whole.57  The Ethics Manual explains that “improper
conduct” is given meaning by considering “generally accepted standards of conduct, the letter
and spirit of laws and Rules. . .”58 

In 1991, the Senate Select Committee on Ethics concluded that Senator Alan Cranston
had engaged in improper conduct which reflected on the Senate by “engaging in an
impermissible pattern of conduct in which fund raising and official activities were substantially
linked.”59  Although the committee found that none of Senator Cranston’s activities violated any
particular law or Senate rule, the committee nonetheless found Senator Cranston’s conduct
“violated established norms of behavior in the Senate, and was improper conduct that reflects
upon the Senate . . .”60  As a result, the committee issued a reprimand to Senator Cranston.61

In addition, the Senate Select Committee on Ethics’ Rules specifically list the Code of
Ethics for Government Service as a source for committee jurisdiction.62  The code states that a
person in government service should  “never discriminate unfairly by the dispensing of special
favors or privileges to anyone, whether for remuneration or not; and never accept for himself or
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63 Id. (citing H. Con. Res. 175, 85th Cong., 2d Sess., July 11, 1958 (72 Stat. B12)).

64 James Carroll, Funds for Naval Guns Questioned, Courier-Journal, November 4, 2007
(Exhibit 51).

65 Id.

66 John Cheves, McConnell Marks Funds for Contractor: Firm Under Investigation for
Bribery, Lexington Herald-Leader, October 27, 2007 (Exhibit 52). 

67 Id.

68 United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form 3, Mid-Year Report 2001, July 23,
2001, pp. 14, 15; United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2001,
May 1, 2002, p. 54; United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly Report
2002, April 10, 2002, p. 17; United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form 3, October
Quarterly Report 2002, October 9, 2002, p. 59; United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form
3, Mid-Year Report 2003, July 30, 2003, p. 71 (Exhibit 53).

69 United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2003, January 28,
2004, p. 115; United Defense, L.P. Employee PAC, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report
2004, October 13, 2004, p. 94 (Exhibit 54).

his family, favors or benefits under circumstances which might be construed by reasonable
persons as influencing the performance of his governmental duties.”63 

If Sen. McConnell accepted campaign contributions or contributions to the McConnell
Center from companies such as E-Cavern, Boardpoint, Voice for Humanity, Appriss and UPS in
return for legislative assistance, he may have engaged in improper conduct which reflects upon
the Senate.

2008 Update

BAE Systems Earmarks

Since 1997, Sen. McConnell has earmarked $336 million for United Defense,64 a defense
contracting firm purchased by BAE Systems in 2005.65  The most recent allocation of funds
came last October when Sen. McConnell earmarked $25 million in federal funds for BAE
Systems after the Defense Department failed to include the money in its own budget request.66 
BAE Systems is now under investigation by the Justice Department for bribery.67  

Prior to its acquisition by BAE, United Defense’ corporate PAC donated $9,000 to Sen.
McConnell’s campaign committee between 2001 to 2004.68  United Defense’s PAC donated an
additional $9,000 to Sen. McConnell’s PAC in 2003 and 2004.69  Finally, employees of United
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70 McConnell Senate Committee 08, FEC Form 3, Mid-Year Report 2001, July 31, 2001,
pp. 12, 95, 196, 234, 264, 277, 278, 280, 357, 418, 484; McConnell Senate Committee 08, FEC
Form 3, April Quarterly Report 2002, April 22, 2002, p. 32; McConnell Senate Committee 08,
FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2005, October 14, 2005, pp. 184, 313 (Exhibit 55).

71 Bluegrass Committee, FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2003, June 8, 2003, pp. 66, 70,
73-75 (Exhibit 56).

72 Cheves, Lexington Herald-Leader, Oct. 27, 2007. 

73 Pitsch, Courier-Journal, Dec. 14, 2004.

74 McConnell Senate Committee 08, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2005,
October 14, 2005, pp. 154, 163; McConnell Senate Committee 08, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly
Report 2006, April 13, 2006, p. 17; McConnell Senate Committee 08, FEC Form 3, April
Quarterly Report 2008, May 8, 2008, p. 92 (Exhibit 57).

75 BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC Form 3, June Monthly Report 2004, June 18,
2004, p. 60; BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC Form 3, Year-End Report 2005, January 27,
2006, p. 95; BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC Form 3, July Monthly Report 2006, July 19,
2006, pp. 107, 108; BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC Form 3, April Monthly Report 2007,
April 18, 2007, p. 62; BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC Form 3, May Monthly Report
2007, May 17, 2007, p. 70 (Exhibit 58).

76 BAE Systems United Defense Employees, FEC Form 3, October Monthly Report
2005, October 20, 2005, p. 70; BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC Form 3, September
Monthly Report 2006, September 15, 2006, p. 122; BAE Systems North America Inc., FEC
Form 3, April Monthly Report 2007, April 18, 2007, p. 51 (Exhibit 59).

Defense donated $6,275 to Sen. McConnell’s campaign committee from 2001 through 200570

and gave $5,000 to his leadership PAC in 2003.71  United Defense pledged $500,000 to the
McConnell Center at the University of Louisville,72 making it one of the top donors.73 

Since 2005, after BAE Systems purchased United Defense, employees of BAE have
donated $7,000 to Sen. McConnell’s campaign committee.74  BAE’s corporate PAC has donated
$10,000 Sen. McConnell’s campaign committee75 and $12,000 to his leadership PAC since
2005.76    

Between the two companies, Sen. McConnell has received more than $58,000 in
contributions to his campaign committee and leadership PAC since 2001. 

Bates Capitol Group

Appriss, Inc. and Boardpoint both continue to retain the lobbying services of the Bates
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77 Bates Capitol Group LLC, Lobbying Reports 2008, Secretary of the Senate, Office of
Public Record (Exhibit 60).

78 McConnell Majority Committee, FEC Form 3, April Quarterly Report 2007, April 12,
2007, pp. 29, 38, 42, 115, 133, 184 (Exhibit 61).

79 McConnell Senate Committee ‘08, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2007,
October 15, 2007, pp. 184, 185 (Exhibit 62).

80 Cape Publications, Inc. v. University of Louisville Foundation, Inc., Case No. 2005-
SC-000454-DG, 2008 KY Lexis 176 (Ky. August 21, 2008) (Exhibit 63).

81 Id., *8.

82 Id., *14.

Capitol Group according to 2008 lobbying records.77 

Appriss, Inc

Executives and employees of Appriss, Inc have donated $10,000 to Sen. McConnell’s
joint fund raising committee in the 2008 cycle.78   

Voice for Humanity

Voice for Humanity founder, Michael Kane, donated $600 to Sen. McConnell’s
campaign committee in the 2008 cycle, $200 of which appears to have been refunded.79 

The McConnell Center for Political Leadership

In a lawsuit brought by the Courier-Journal for records of donations made to the
McConnell Center for Political Leadership, the Kentucky Supreme court ruled in August that the
University of Louisville could not withhold information about donors from public records
requests.80  The court agreed with the newspaper that “certain donors may not simply wish to
conceal their identities, but rather may wish to conceal the true purposes of their donations.”81 
Though the court ruled that the identities of 62 donors who requested their donations be
anonymous need not be revealed, future donors will not be permitted to make anonymous
donations.82  
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1 Larry Margasak and Matt Apuzzo, Stevens Fears Impact Of Current Probe, Associated
Press Online, July 10, 2007 (Exhibit 1).

2 Sean Cockerham, Money Bill Passes Amid Fury; Stevens; Alaska Senator Denies Role
In Placing Controversial Item Into Bill, Anchorage Daily News, November 21, 2004 (Exhibit 2).

3 Two US Lawmakers Face Corruption Probe: Report, Agence France Press, July 25,
2007 (Exhibit 3).

4 Id.

5 Richard Mauer, Feds Eye Stevens’ Home Remodeling Project, Anchorage Daily News,
May 29, 2007 (Exhibit 4).

6 Timeline of Federal Investigation into Alaska Politics, Anchorage Daily News, May 8,
2007 (Exhibit 5).

7 Lisa Demer, Ben Stevens ID’d as Senator A, Anchorage Daily News, August 30, 2007
(Exhibit 6).

SEN. TED STEVENS

Ted Stevens (R-AK) is a seventh-term senator, representing Alaska.  Sen. Stevens was
chairman of the Senate Appropriations Committee from 1997 to 2005, except for an 18-month
period when the Democrats controlled the Senate.1  He gave up the chairmanship in January
2005 2005 because of Republican six-year term limits on chairmanships.2  Sen. Stevens is the
ranking member of the Defense Appropriations Subcommittee and sits on several other
Appropriations Subcommittees.  Sen. Stevens’ ethics issues stem from his ties to the VECO
Corporation; earmarks he has inserted for companies that paid his son, Ben Stevens; his
relationship with his brother-in-law, lobbyist William Bittner; his relationship with Alaskan real
estate developers Jonathan Rubini and Leonard Hyde; as well as the activities of his non-profit,
The Ted Stevens Foundation.  Sen. Stevens was indicted by a federal grand jury on June 29,
2008 on seven counts of making false statements. Sen. Stevens was included in CREW’s 2007
congressional corruption report. 

VECO Corporation

For several years, Sen. Stevens was under federal investigation for his ties to VECO
Corporation, an oil field engineering firm in Alaska.3  The Justice Department was investigating
whether Sen. Stevens accepted bribes, illegal gratuities or unreported gifts from VECO.4  Part of
the inquiry focused on a 2000 remodeling project on the senator’s Girdwood, Alaska home.5 
Two VECO executives, former VECO CEO Bill Allen and former Vice President of Community
Affairs and Government Relations Rick Smith, pleaded guilty on May 7, 2007, to bribing Alaska
state lawmakers,6 including ‘Senator A’ who fit the description of former Alaska State Senate
President Ben Stevens, Sen. Stevens’ son.7 
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8  Richard Mauer and Lisa Demer, Veco Executives Allen, Smith Plead Guilty to Bribery,
Conspiracy, Anchorage Daily News, May 8, 2007 (Exhibit 7).

9 Tom Kizzia, Sabra Ayres, and Kevin Diaz, A Long, Long Way from Bankruptcy;
Influence Peddler: Since Bottom Days 25 Years Ago , Veco has Turned into Big Corporate
Political Operator, Anchorage Daily News, May 8, 2007 (Exhibit 8).

10 Northern Lights Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3, August Monthly Report
1998, August 20, 1998,  pp. 1, 2 (Exhibit 9); Northern Lights Political Action Committee, FEC
Form 3, Year End Amend to Report 2003, October 14, 2004, pp. 6, 10 (Exhibit 10); Northern
Lights Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3, Mid Year Report 2005, p. 6 (Exhibit 11);
Northern Lights Political Action Committee, FEC Form 3, June Monthly Report 2006, June 20,
2006, pp. 6, 12 (Exhibit 12); Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, Year End Report
2000, January 31, 2001, pp. 3, 7, 9, 13, 39 (Exhibit 13); Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC
Form 3, Year End Report 2001, March 18, 2002, pp. 80, 127, 258, 299, 322 (Exhibit 14);
Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, Pre-Primary Report 2002, August 18, 2002, p. 5
(Exhibit 15); Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2004,
October 15, 2004, pp. 7, 9, 10, 13 (Exhibit 16); Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC Form 3,
Year End Report 2004, January 1, 2005, p. 5 (Exhibit 17); Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC
Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2005, October 14, 2005, pp. 8, 14, 16, 17, 19 (Exhibit 18);
Stevens for Senate Committee, FEC Form 3, October Quarterly Report 2006, October 13, 2006,
pp. 7,12, 15 (Exhibit 19).

11 Northern Lights PAC Non-Federal Account, IRS Form 8872 Political Organization
Report of Contributions and Expenditures, December 19, 2002 (Exhibit 20).

12 Paul Kane, Sen. Stevens Told to Keep Records for Graft Probe, Washington Post, June
7, 2007 (Exhibit 21).

The federal government charged that VECO paid Sen. Ben Stevens $200,000 in bribes
masquerading as consulting fees.8   Mr. Allen and Mr. Smith also pleaded guilty to conspiring to
defraud the IRS by reimbursing officials who made campaign contributions to VECO-supported
candidates.9 

Since 1998, Mr. Allen and other VECO executives have given $72,000 to Sen. Stevens’
campaign committee and leadership PAC, Northern Lights PAC.10  Mr.  Allen contributed
$25,000, including $14,000 after 2004 and his son, Mark Allen, contributed $12,000.  In 2002, 
VECO’s PAC gave $25,000 to the Northern Lights PAC.11  In June 2007, an aide to Sen. Stevens
said that the senator would give all VECO-related contributions made between 2004 and 2006 to
charity.12

Girdwood House Remodeling Project

Since at least May of 2007, federal authorities were investigating a remodeling project
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13 Mauer, Anchorage Daily News, May 29, 2007.

14 U.S. v. Bill J. Allen, Factual Basis for Plea, Case No. 3:07-cr-00057 (D. Alaska May 4,
2007) (Exhibit 22).

15 Kane, Washington Post, June 7, 2007.

16 Id.

17 Mauer, Anchorage Daily News, May 29, 2007.

18 Id.

19 Id.

20 Id.

21 Mauer, Anchorage Daily News, May 29, 2007.

22 Id.

that more than doubled the size of Sen. Stevens’ official Alaska residence in Girdwood.13  The
statement of facts that accompanied Mr. Allen and Mr. Smith’s May 2007 guilty pleas stated that
“VECO was not in the business of residential construction or remodeling.”14  In June of 2007,
Sen. Stevens said that the FBI had requested that he preserve his records as part of a widening
investigation into political corruption in Alaska.15  Sen. Stevens hired a lawyer to handle the
probe and confirmed that his son, Ben, is also under investigation.16

In the summer of 2000, the Stevens began the remodeling project, which involved raising
the first story of the home and constructing a new level beneath the original one.17  On July 26,
2000, Sen. Stevens faxed a letter to the Anchorage building safety officials saying that his good
friend Bob Persons, owner of the Girdwood Double Musky Restaurant, had authority to act on
behalf of the Senator and his wife Catherine “in regard to construction at my house in
Girdwood.”18  

Mr. Persons has testified before a federal grand jury, although he has not revealed the
nature of his testimony.  It is known, however, that Mr. Persons obtained a land use permit for
the project on July 31, 2000, and listed the total value of construction as $84,878, much lower
than the actual cost of over $100,000.19  

Tony Hannah was responsible for the crew that initially raised the house in July and
August of 2000.20  Mr. Hannah, who has testified before the grand jury, said that the crew who
worked on flooring for what was to be the new ground floor botched the job.21   As a result,
during late summer 2000, Augie Paone, owner of Christensen Builders Inc. of Anchorage was
hired to fix and complete the home renovations.22
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24 Mauer, Anchorage Daily News, May 29, 2007.

25 Id.
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28 Mauer, Anchorage Daily News, May 29, 2007.

29 Stevens Denies Wrongdoing Related to House Renovations, Frontrunner, July 18,
2007 (Exhibit 23).

30 Matt Apuzzo, Feds Question Bookkeeper in Stevens Case, Associated Press Online,
August 1, 2007 (Exhibit 24).

31 Id.

Mr. Paone testified before the grand jury in December 2006 that Mr. Allen hired him to
fix and complete the construction on the Stevens’ home.23  Mr. Paone said, “Bill Allen and some
of the VECO boys, some of the VECO guys, were the ones that approached me and wanted to
know if I could give them a hand.  I did it more as a favor, you know.  It’s one of those things
when somebody is the head, and packs that much power and asks you for a favor, it’s kind of hard
to say no.”24  

Mr. Allen knew Mr. Paone because he had worked as a carpenter on a VECO office
building in Anchorage and had remodeled the basement of VECO Chief Financial Officer Roger
J. Chan.  Mr. Paone said that Mr. Chan as well as Mr. Allen asked him to work on the Stevens’
house.25  Mr. Paone explained that before he sent any bills to the Stevens, he was directed to
provide them first to VECO.  If VECO approved the invoice, he faxed it to the Stevens in
Washington.26  Mr. Paone received payments from what he said appeared to be a checking
account opened for the project because the checks, which were imprinted with Ted and Catherine
Stevens’ names, had single and double digit numbers.27  

The FBI began questioning Mr. Paone about the project in 2006, asking for all paperwork
related to the job.  He said that agents seemed particularly interested in VECO and its officials
and that the government already had copies of most of his invoices, having obtained them from
VECO.28  

Sen. Stevens insisted that he paid for the renovations with his own money.29  Barbara
Flanders, a clerk on the Senate Commerce Committee, helped Sen. Stevens with his personal
finances including paying bills.  She testified before a federal grand jury sometime during the
summer of 2007 and provided documents regarding the senator’s bills.30  She was questioned
about how the bills were paid for the  Stevens’ Girdwood home renovation project.31
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31, 2007 (Exhibit 25).
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34  Matt Apuzzo, Corruption Investigators Photograph Wine During Raid On Sen.
Stevens’ Home, Associated Press, July 31, 2007 (Exhibit 26).

35 Mauer and Bolstad, Anchorage Daily News, July 31, 2007.

36 Id.

37 Apuzzo, Corruption Investigation, Associated Press, July 31, 2007.

38 Dan Joling, Allen Says VECO Staff worked on Ted Stevens Home Remodel,
Associated Press, September 14, 2007 (Exhibit 27)

39 Chuck Neubauer, Judy Pasternak, and Richard T. Cooper, The Senators’ Sons; A
Washington Bouquet: Hire a Lawmaker’s Kid; Stiffer Rules are Making it Harder to Direct Cash
to a Congressman.  But You Can Still Put His Family on the Pay Roll, Los Angeles Times, June
23, 2003 (Exhibit 28).

40 Margasak and Apuzzo, Associated Press Online, July 10, 2007.

On July 30, 2007, Sen. Stevens’ Girdwood home was raided by the FBI and the IRS.32 
The FBI would not comment officially on the search, but agents were seen taking extensive
photographs and videotapes of all aspects of the house.33  A law enforcement official with
knowledge of the investigation confirmed that the raid on Sen. Stevens’ house was connected to
the VECO investigation.34  The FBI removed a trash bag full of items from the home.35  It appears
that the FBI and IRS may have been attempting to assess the exact value of renovations
performed on Sen. Stevens’ house in order to determine if he actually paid for all of the
remodeling work.36  Agents appeared to take particular notice of and pains to document Sen.
Stevens’ extensive wine collection.37

On September 14, 2007, Mr. Allen admitted in court that VECO employees worked for
several months remodeling Sen. Stevens’ Girdwood home and that VECO paid for at least some
of the remodeling work.38

Sen. Stevens’ Legislative Assistance to VECO

Sen. Stevens supported construction of the Alaska oil pipeline, directed federal job-
training money to oil field workers and in 2003 pushed for a natural gas pipeline, all of which
benefitted VECO.39  During the late 1990s, the number of federal contracts VECO received
increased significantly.40  This increase coincided with Sen. Stevens’ rise to chairman of the
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44 FedSpending Database, Contracts to VECO (FY 2000-2006), www.fedspending.org,
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Indictment (hereinafter “Indictment”) (Exhibit 30).

50 Id., ¶ 15.

51 Id.

Senate Appropriations Committee in 1997.41  Since 1997, VECO has won more than $65 million
in federal contracts, more than triple what the company had received in the previous nine years.42 
The federal contracts included Navy engineering contracts, oil industry maintenance deals and
office repair agreements.43  According to fedspending.org, which tracks government contracts
since 2000, VECO received approximately $41 million in federal contracts between 2000 and
2006.44  In the late 1990s, VECO became the exclusive provider of logistical support to Arctic
researchers for the National Science Foundation.45

In 1999, Sen. Stevens helped VECO in its dealings with the Pakistani government over a
$70 million pipeline the company built, but that the Pakistani government was refusing to pay
for.46  Sen. Stevens was prepared to block trade legislation strongly supported by the Pakistani
government until Pakistani officials agreed to arbitration with VECO.47  Once the Pakistani
government and VECO settled their financial dispute, the trade bill easily passed the Senate.48

Federal Indictment

On July 29, 2008, Sen. Stevens was indicted by the Department of Justice for making false
statements on his financial disclosure forms.49  The indictment alleges that beginning in May
1999 through August 2007, Sen. Stevens engaged in a scheme to conceal “his continuing receipt
of hundreds of thousands of dollars worth of things of value” from VECO and Mr. Allen by
failing to report them on his financial disclosure forms.50  The things of value included home
improvements to the Girdwood residence, automobiles, household goods, and tools, totaling over
$250,000.51
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“Motion In Limine”) (Exhibit 31).

55 Id., pp. 7-8.
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The renovations to Sen. Stevens’ home took place over a six-year period from 2000-2006
and Sen. Stevens was personally supervised the work, having multiple conversations and
correspondence with Mr. Allen and VECO employees about the construction, reviewing and
commenting on plans for the work, being present for while some of the work was performed, and
suggesting additional improvements.52

According to the indictment, as part of the scheme, while Sen. Stevens was receiving gifts
from VECO, he used his official position on VECO’s behalf.  VECO asked Sen. Stevens for:
funding and assistance with international VECO projects and partnerships, including some in
Pakistan and Russia; multiple federal grants and contracts to benefit VECO, including grants from
the National Science Foundation to a VECO subsidiary; assistance on federal and state issues in
connection with the effort to construct a natural gas pipeline from Alaska’s North Slope region.53

The government provided further information regarding Sen. Stevens’ assistance to 
VECO in a motion filed in August.  In regard to construction of the gas pipeline, the government
intercepted a number of telephone calls between Mr. Allen, Sen. Stevens, the senator’s legislative
staff, and others, including Sen. Stevens’ son, discussing the pipeline.54  During those discussions,
Sen. Stevens told Mr. Allen that he would “whittle down” the federal permitting and review
process and that he would try to get federal officials, including the Secretary of Energy and the
head of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), to weigh in.55  Shortly after Sen.
Stevens addressed the Alaska Senate Energy and Natural Resources Committee about the matter,
FERC issued a report with a similar message.56 

Sen. Stevens also helped VECO with the government of Pakistan.  In 1998, Pakistan
awarded a letter of intent to Asia Petroleum Limited, a company in which a VECO subsidiary had
an ownership interest, concerning the creation of an underground pipeline to transport oil to a
privately-owned generation plant near Karachi, Pakistan.57  When Pakistan delayed implementing
the project VECO asked Sen. Stevens for help and Sen. Stevens contacted World Bank President
James D. Wolfensohm to request his assistance.58 
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On August 14, 2008, prosecutors filed a motion noticing their intent to introduce  evidence
of other crimes for which Sen. Stevens has not been charged at his criminal trial.59  In February
2001, Sen. and Mrs. Stevens agreed to buy a $360,000 condo, putting 10% or $36,000 down.60  In
reality, the Stevens’ only put down $5,000 and the remaining $31,000 was paid by an unnamed
fellow investor and personal friend of Sen. Stevens in the form of an interest free loan.61 
Six months later, on August 21, 2001, the condo was sold for $515,000.62  Sen. Stevens repaid the
$31,000 loan in two installments by the end of 2001.63  By his own calculations, Sen. Stevens
made slightly over $103,000 on the deal.64  Despite Senate rules requiring any liabilities over
$10,000 in a calendar year be reported, Sen. Stevens did not report the loan on his 2001 personal
financial disclosure forms.65 

In the same motion, prosecutors also provided notice of their intent to introduce evidence
that Sen. Stevens had asked Mr. Allen for a generator for his Alaska home, a new car for his
daughter, and jobs for his son and grandson.66  In addition, prosecutors suggested that Sen.
Stevens improperly attempted to influence a witness’s grand jury testimony, sending emails
stating, “I hope we can work something out to make sure you aren’t led astray on this occasion,”
and “don’t answer questions you don’t KNOW the answers to.” (Capitalization in original).67

Sen. Stevens pleaded not guilty to all seven counts on July 31, 2008.68  He also asked for
an expedited trial so as to have the proceedings completed before Election Day on November 4,
2008.69  U.S. District Court Judge Emmet Sullivan has set a tentative trial date of September 24,
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2008.70

False Statements

The Ethics in Government Act of 1978 provides that the Attorney General may seek a
civil penalty of up to $11,000 against an individual who knowingly and willfully falsifies or fails
to file or report any information required by the Act.71  In addition, knowingly and willfully
making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation, or falsifying,
concealing or covering up a material fact in a filing under the Ethics in Government Act is a
federal crime.72 Senate Rule 34 incorporates the financial disclosure provisions of the Ethics in
Government Act.

Financial disclosure forms require the filer to disclose information regarding liabilities in
excess of $10,000 owed at any point in the calendar year as well as gifts from a single source if
the value of the items received was greater than a particular dollar value that periodically
changes.73   For the calendar years 1999-2002, the amount was $260, for 2003 it was $285, and
for the years 2004-2006, it was $305.74

By failing to include gifts from VECO and Mr. Allen on his personal financial disclosure
forms from 2000 through 2006, the government has alleged that Sen. Stevens made false
statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.75

Ben Stevens

Sen. Stevens has repeatedly used his legislative powers to benefit companies that have
hired his son, former Alaska State Senator Ben Stevens, as a consultant.  Sen. Stevens put a rider
on an appropriations bill to help the Cook Inlet Region, Inc. (CIRI) make a profit from a
telecommunications investment and pushed to make CIRI eligible for tribal gaming.  The firm
paid Ben Stevens $218,774.76  While Sen. Ted Stevens earmarked more than $10 million for the
2001 Special Olympics in Anchorage, Ben Stevens was paid $715,395 over three years to run the
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78 Id.

79 Id.

80 Id.

81 Neubauer, Pasternak, and Cooper, Los Angeles Times, June 23, 2003.

82 Mauer and Demer, Anchorage Daily News, May 8, 2007.

83 U.S. v. Bill J. Allen, Factual Basis for Plea, Case No. 3:07-cr-00057 (D. Alaska May 4,
2007).

84 Richard Mauer, Subpoena May Signal a Wider Corruption Net; Grand Jury: Head of
Seine Group Says Records Touch Ben Stevens Marketing Board, Anchorage Daily News,
December 10, 2006 (Exhibit 34).

games and then paid an additional $57,000 as a consultant to the national Special Olympics.77 
While Sen. Stevens pushed legislation to require federal fishing regulators to come up with a plan
for crab quotas, Ben Stevens was paid $56,000 by the North Pacific Crab Association.78  When

 Sen. Ted Stevens pushed through legislation for a $100 million buy-back program for
crabbing vessels, the Bearing Sea Crab Effort Reduction Fund paid Ben Stevens $42,500.79  When
Sen. Ted Stevens earmarked $10 million to market Alaska seafood and passed legislation
requiring the Department of Defense to purchase only domestically produced seafood, Norquest
Seafood paid Ben Stevens $37,502 and Adak Fisheries paid him $80,000.80  When Sen. Stevens
picked the Southwest Alaska Municipal Conference to hand out $30 million in disaster relief after
a bad groundfish season in 2000, Ben Stevens was paid $12,800.81  Other payments have also
drawn the attention of federal investigators.  

VECO Corporation

Ben Stevens was the president of the Alaska State Senate from 1995 until the VECO
bribery scandal forced him not to seek re-election in 2006.  In August 2007, Sen. Ben Stevens
was identified as ‘Senator A’, who Mr. Allen and Mr. Smith pleaded guilty to bribing by way of
phony consulting payments.82  This is corroborated by the fact that the $243,250 in consulting
payments Sen. Ben Stevens received between 2002 and 2006 from VECO precisely match the
amount government documents indicate that Mr. Allen and Mr. Smith paid to ‘Senator A’.83  

Fishing Industry

In the fall of 2006, the federal government issued subpoenas for Sen. Ben Stevens’ records
involving the Alaska Fisheries Marketing Board84 as well as to fishing industry executives in
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90 Peter Overby, Corruption Probe Ensnares Powerful Alaska Senator, NPR Weekend
Edition, July 15, 2007 (Exhibit 36).
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Washington state, Washington, D.C. and Alaska.85  The Alaska Fisheries Marketing Board
(AFMB) is a non-profit federal grant distribution organization set up by Sen. Ted Stevens to
distribute federal funds to fishing companies.86  Sen. Ben Stevens chaired the AFMB from its
creation in 1993 until he resigned on April 19, 2006.87  Sen. Ted Stevens’ former aide, Trevor 
McCabe, also served on the board.88  During this period the AFMB distributed millions of dollars
in federal funds to companies that paid $775,435 in consulting fees to Sen. Ben Stevens.89 

In December of 2006, Sen. Ted Stevens passed legislation that included a $25 million
appropriation to reduce salmon fishing boats, or seine boats, through a federal buy-back of fishing
permits.90  The buyback is intended to help fisherman who are suffering financially because of
decreased salmon prices because fewer fishing boats should lead to less fish in the market which,
in turn, should result in higher prices for fish.91  The Southeast Seiners, a salmon fishing
association, hired lobbying firm Advance North LLC, which was co-owned by Sen. Ben Stevens
and Trevor McCabe.92  Only Mr. McCabe registered to lobby Congress on the issue of the permit
buy-backs, but both men were paid as consultants.93  Although Sen. Ben Stevens’ contract
stipulated that his monthly payments of $5,000 would double to $10,000 if the buy-back became
federal legislation, it is unclear what, if anything, Sen. Ben Stevens did for the money.94 The boat
owners’ association raised concerns as to how they would pay Sen. Ben Stevens’ increased
salary,  but according to association member Victor Smith, association Executive Director Rob
Zuanich said that he would keep the payments for Sen. Ben Stevens off the books through
“convoluted accounting.”95  Questions about the financial wisdom of the buy-back program were
raised because lower salmon prices had already reduced the amount of permits used.96  The
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99 Stanton, Roll Call, July 31, 2007.
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2007 (Exhibit 38).

101 John Stanton, Stevens Adds Millions in Earmarks to Omnibus, Roll Call, Dec. 18,
2007 (Exhibit 39). 

102 Chuck Neubauer and Richard T. Cooper, Federal Buyout With A Family Connection,
Los Angeles Times, December 17, 2003 (Exhibit 40).

103 http://www.birchhorton.com/attorney_bittner.html, September 10, 2007 (Exhibit 41).

104 Birch Horton Bittner and Cherot, Lobbying Report 2003, Secretary of the Senate,
Office of Public Records (Exhibit 42).

legislation including the buyback provision encountered problems in the Senate, leading Sen.
Stevens to amend it, passing a new version out of committee in July 2007.

SeaLife Center

A Seward, Alaska marine center called the SeaLife Center received a $1.6 million
earmark in 2005 to purchase property adjacent to the SeaLife Center owned by Sen. Steven’s
former aide and Sen. Ben Stevens’ business partner, Mr. McCabe.97  The Department of the
Interior’s Inspector General and the FBI are jointly investigating the earmark and the subsequent
decision to purchase the property.98  SeaLife bought Mr. McCabe’s property for $558,000 and Mr.
McCabe also agreed to operate boat tours for the Center through another company he owned with
Sen. Ben Stevens, Alaska Outfitters.99  SeaLife also paid a construction company, for which Mr.
McCabe was a managing partner, at least $200,000 to demolish a building on the property.100

Despite the investigations into Sen. Stevens’ earmarks, the senator earmarked an additional $3.5
million for the Alaska SeaLife Center in the Fiscal Year 2008 Omnibus spending bill.101

William Bittner, Jonathan Rubini and Leonard Hyde

William Bittner is Sen. Stevens’ brother-in-law, an Anchorage lawyer and a Washington,
D.C. lobbyist102 at Birch Horton Bittner and Cherot.103  Sen. Stevens has repeatedly used his
position on the Senate Appropriations Committee to push through legislation that has benefitted
Birch Horton Bittner and Cherot clients including: Hyundai Merchant Marine,104 Arctic Slope
Regional Corporation and its subsidiary Arctic Slope World Services and the Alaska
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Favors; Circle Of Influence, Los Angeles Times, December 17, 2003 (Exhibit 43).

106 Liz Ruskin, Financial Wizard Work Magic For Stevens; Rubini: Investing With
Property Developer Has Turned The Senator’s Financial Fortunes Around, Anchorage Daily
News, August 17, 2003 (Exhibit 44); Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way To Wealth, Los
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Sen. Ted Stevens,  Personal Financial Disclosure Statement for Calender Year 1996, filed May
15, 1997; Sen. Ted Stevens,  Personal Financial Disclosure Statement for Calender Year 1997,
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109 Ruskin, Anchorage Daily News, Aug. 17, 2003; Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way
To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003.

110 Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003.

111  Ruskin, Anchorage Daily News, Aug. 17, 2003.
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113 Ruskin, Anchorage Daily News, Aug. 17, 2003; Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way
To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003. 

114 Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003.

Communications Systems Group.105  Mr. Bittner also helped to arrange Sen. Stevens’ initial 1997
 investment with Jonathan Rubini, a successful Alaskan real estate developer.106    

In 1997, Mr. Bittner approached his friend, Mr. Rubini, about possible investments for
Sen. Stevens.107  Mr. Rubini arranged for Sen. Stevens to be part of a new syndicate, JLS
Properties LLC.108   The syndicate consisted of Jonathan Rubini, Leonard B. Hyde, Stuart Bond
and Sen. Stevens.109  All partners except Sen. Stevens were required to personally guarantee any
debts that the syndicate might acquire, as well as provide additional capital as needed for
syndicate projects.110  The three other partners each invested $200,000, while Sen. Stevens
invested just $50,000.111  JLS Properties was very successful and by the start of 2001, Sen.
Stevens’ investment was worth between $250,000 and $500,000.112  

In June 2001, Mr. Rubini and Mr. Hyde began construction on a 10-story office building
in midtown Anchorage, called Centerpoint I.113  Centerpoint I currently houses the headquarters
of Alaska Slope Regional Corporation, a subsidiary of which was a client of Mr. Bittner, and
which has benefitted from legislation introduced by Sen. Stevens.114  In October 2001, Sen.
Stevens became an investor in Centerpoint I and Centerpoint II, the 22-acre development next to

218



115 Ruskin, Anchorage Daily News, Aug. 17, 2003.

116 Id.

117 Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003. 

118 Ruskin, Anchorage Daily News, Aug. 17, 2003.

119 Ruskin, Anchorage Daily News, Aug. 17, 2003; Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way
To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003. 

120 Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003. 

121 Sen. Ted Stevens, Personal Financial Disclosure Statement for Calender Year 2003,
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124 Neubauer and Cooper, Senator’s Way To Wealth, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 17, 2003.

Centerpoint I.115  Sen. Stevens’ investments in the Centerpoint buildings were included as part of
his original $50,000 investment in JLS Properties;116 he was not required to pledge additional
capital.117  

As of October 2001, Sen. Stevens’ initial investment in the Centerpoint buildings was
worth between $115,000 and $300,000; 14 months later in December 2002, his Centerpoint
investments were worth between $500,000 and $1 million.118  

In 2003, Sen. Stevens reported that his investments with Mr. Rubini, Mr. Hyde, and Mr.
Bond including Centerpoint I and II, were worth between $750,000 and $1.5 million.119 
Additionally, Catherine Bittner Stevens, Sen. Stevens’ wife, runs Chamer Co., a private family
investment firm that earned $37,500 through a $250,000 investment in Centerpoint I.120  This
investment was not disclosed on the senator’s financial disclosure forms.121  In 2004, Sen. Stevens
sold his assets in JLS Properties and the Centerpoints and put them in a blind trust worth between
$1 and $5 million.122 

Elmendorf Housing Project

In 2000, Mr. Rubini and a group of investors including Mr. Bittner, Mr. Hyde, and Mr.
Bond bid on a $450,000,000 federal contract to build private housing at Elmendorf Air Force
Base in Alaska.123  At one point during the bidding process, Mr. Rubini requested that Air Force
officials provide him with additional time to prepare his bid and sent a copy of his request to Sen.
Stevens.124  Mr. Rubini was given a two-week extension, and with only the final paperwork to be
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completed, claimed he was led to believe that his group had secured the contract.125  In September
2000, only a few days before the deal between the Air Force and Mr. Rubini’s group was to
become final, the Air Force backed out citing doubts about the Rubini group’s ability to complete
the project.126  Mr. Rubini filed a formal complaint against the Air Force and went to Washington,
D.C. to meet with Sen. Stevens regarding the matter.127  

Sen. Stevens was chairman of the Senate Appropriations Committee, and his good friend
former Sen. Conrad Burns (R-MT) was chairman of the Military Construction Subcommittee.128 
In October 2000, Sen. Burns wrote a letter to F. Whitten Peters, Secretary of the Air Force,
threatening to take away federal funding for the Elmendorf housing privatization project because
of the conflict surrounding the awarding of the contract.129  Sen. Burns also arranged for a similar
letter to be sent by the chairman of the corresponding House Committee.130  House aides said they
were aware of Sen. Stevens’ interest in the awarding of the Elmendorf housing contract to Mr
Rubini’s group.131  

While Mr. Rubini was waiting to see if the Air Force would accept his bid he collaborated
with Hunt Building Corporation of El Paso, Texas to create a new partnership to vie for the
Elmendorf housing contract.132  In early December 2000, the Air Force awarded the new Rubini-
Hunt partnership the Elmendorf housing contract.133  In late 2003, the Air Force announced that
the Rubini-Hunt Group would get a no-bid contract to complete a second round of housing.134

National Archives and Records Administration Relocation Project

In 1998, the National Archives and Records Administration (“NARA”) began the process
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of securing a new facility for documents in Alaska.135  The same year, Sen. Stevens and local
officials began working on a redevelopment plan for a largely unused part of Anchorage.136  As
part of the plan, officials proposed having the federal government purchase a piece of
undeveloped land owned by a group of retired schoolteachers through their company, the 40th

Street Investors, for the new archives facility.137  

In 1998 and 1999, Sen. Stevens earmarked more than $1.7 million for a site selection
study to determine where in Anchorage NARA’s new archives building would be located.138 
Nevertheless, neither NARA nor Sen. Stevens’ office ever contacted the 40th Street Investors and
Congress’ interest in the project appeared to wane.139

Then, on May 21, 2002, Mr. Hyde and Mr. Rubini entered into an agreement with the 40th

Street Investors to purchase the property.140  On June 19th, Mr. Hyde and Mr. Rubini formally
incorporated Eagle River Center LLC and transferred their interest in the property to the new
company.141  On July 11, 2002, the Senate Appropriates Subcommittee on Treasury and General
Government passed a spending measure that included a $3.75 million earmark for NARA to
purchase property for a new facility in Anchorage.142  In 2003, Sen. Stevens inserted an additional
$2.25 million for the project in the Fiscal Year 2004 Treasury appropriations bill.143  

In May 2003, the General Service Administration (GSA) released a request for bids and
Eagle River Center responded, despite the fact that it would not formally close on the property
until June.  Then, on June 2, 2003, Eagle River closed on the property paying $1.5 million for
it.144  Seven months later, on January 21, 2004, GSA informed Eagle River that it had selected its
property for the new NARA site and by March, Eagle River had agreed to sell the land to the
government on June 8, 2004 for $3.5 million, putting the closing just past one year from the date
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Eagle River purchased it to avoid a significant capital gains tax.145 

Since the government acquired the land, federal funding to build the new archives center
has stalled and the Alaska Archives remains in its old location.146  In May of 2007, Sen. Stevens
transferred $290,000 that had been tagged for the construction of the archives center to a speed
skating rink in Midtown Park, Alaska.147  A spokesman for Sen. Stevens said that while the
senator fully supports the project, it remains unclear whether any more funding will be
earmarked.148

Officials at NARA confirm that they were contacted during the summer of 2007 by staff
on the Senate Homeland Security and Government Affairs Subcommittee on Federal Financial
Management, Government Information, Federal Services and International Security, which is
investigating NARA’s purchase of property from Mr. Rubini and Mr. Hyde.149

The Ted Stevens Foundation (a/k/a the North to the Future Foundation)

The Ted Stevens Foundation is a non-profit 501(c)3 foundation founded in 2000150 “to
honor the career of Senator Ted Stevens by making the papers and mementos of his career
available to the public and to support programs similar to those he has supported.”151  In October
2006, the foundation changed its name to The North to the Future Foundation.152  A 2004 phone
call by The Washington Post to the number listed on the foundation’s 990 tax form connected the
paper with Tim McKeever, then the foundation’s chairman, a lobbyist before the Senate
Appropriations Committee, and treasurer of the Sen. Stevens’ campaign committee.153  
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157 The Ted Stevens Foundation, 2004 IRS Form 990-EZ (Exhibit 55).
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160 McCormick v. U.S., 500 U.S. 257, 273 (1991); United States v. Biaggi, 909 F.2d 662,
605 (2d Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U.S. 904 (1991).

In 2002, the Ted Stevens Foundation received $55,000 in contributions: $45,000 from
Sen. Stevens’ leadership PAC, the Northern Lights PAC, and $10,000 from the Pollock
Conservation Fund, a group connected to the Alaska fishing industry.154  In 2003, the Ted Stevens
Foundation listed total assets as $144,584.155  This figure jumped to $2,310,840 by the end of
2005.156  Between 2003 and 2005, the foundation spent $380,000 on fundraisers, and has made
only two grants; a $40,000 desk to the Smithsonian Institute157 and $10,000 to the Anchorage
Rowers Association.158 
 

Acceptance of a Bribe

Federal law prohibits public officials from directly or indirectly demanding, seeking,
receiving, accepting, or agreeing to receive or accept anything of value in return for being
influenced in the performance of an official act.159  It is well-settled that accepting a contribution
to a political campaign can constitute a bribe if a quid pro quo can be demonstrated.160

If, as it appears, Sen. Stevens allowed VECO to pay for the renovations to his Alaska
home in return for using his position as a U.S. senator to assist the company, he may have
violated the bribery statute.  Similarly, if he provided legislative assistance in return for
contributions to the Ted Stevens Foundation he may have violated the bribery statute.

If, as it appears, Sen. Stevens offered legislative assistance to Jonathan Rubini and
Leonard Hyde in connection with the Elmendorf Housing Project and the National Archives and
Records Administration Relocation project in return for being allowed to participate in the pair’s
lucrative real estate deals, without contributing his fair share of the capital, Sen. Stevens may
have violated the bribery statute. 

If, as it appears, Sen. Stevens has supported legislation and inserted earmarks into
spending bills in return for companies hiring his son, Ben Stevens, Sen. Stevens may have
violated the bribery statute.
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Honest Services Fraud

Federal law prohibits a member of Congress from depriving his constituents, the United
States Senate, and the United States of the right of honest service, including conscientious, loyal,
faithful, disinterested, unbiased service, performed free of deceit, undue influence, conflict of
interest, self-enrichment, self-dealing, concealment, bribery, fraud and corruption.161  By using his
position as a member of Congress to financially benefit VECO, Sen. Stevens may be depriving
his constituents, the United States Senate and the United States of his honest services in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §1341.  

If Sen. Stevens used his position as a member of Congress to financially benefit his son,
Ben Stevens, his brother-in-law, William Bittner, or his business partners, Jonathan Rubini and
Leonard Hyde, he may have deprived his constituents, the United States Senate and the United
States of his honest services in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341.

Illegal Gratuity

The illegal gratuity statute prohibits a public official from directly or indirectly
demanding, seeking, receiving, accepting, or agreeing to accept anything of value personally for
or because of any official act performed or to be performed by such official.162  In considering this
statute, the Supreme Court has held that a link must be established between the gratuity and a
specific action taken by or to be taken by the government official.163

If a link is established between Sen. Stevens’ legislative actions and his inclusion in
lucrative real estate deals with Jonathan Rubini and Leonard Hyde, or if a link is established
between the renovations on his house and legislative assistance provided by Sen. Stevens to
VECO, Sen. Stevens would be in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201(c)(1)(B).

5 U.S.C. § 7353

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
Congress, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of
people, including “anyone seeking official action from, doing business with, or . . . conducting
activities regulated by the individual’s employing entity; or whose interests may be substantially
affected by the performance or nonperformance of the individual’s official duties.”

If Sen. Stevens sought to be included in real estate deals at a time when Jonathan Rubini
and Leonard Hyde had business before the Senate, he may have violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353. 
Similarly, if he sought contributions for the North to the Future Foundation (f/k/a the Ted Stevens
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Foundation), in return for legislative assistance, Sen. Stevens may have violated 5 U.S.C. § 7353.

5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a)

5 C.F. R. § 2635.702(a) prohibits government employees, including members of the
Senate from “taking any official actions for the prospect of personal gain for themselves or
anyone else.”  Specifically, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a), issued by the U.S. Office of Government
Ethics for the Executive Branch, provides:

An employee shall not use or permit use of his Government
position or title or any authority associated with his public
office in a manner that is intended to coerce or induce another
person . . . to provide any benefit, financial or otherwise,
to himself or to friends, relatives, or persons with whom the
employee is affiliated in a nongovernmental capacity.

By using his position as a senator to benefit those companies that hired his son as a
consultant, Sen. Stevens may have dispensed special favors in violation of 5 C.F.R. §
2635.702(a).

Financial Disclosure Requirements

The Ethics in Government Act of 1967164 requires all members of Congress to file
financial disclosure reports.  Under the statute, the Attorney General may seek a civil penalty of
up to $11,000 against any individual who knowingly and willfully falsifies or fails to file or report
any information required by the Act.165  Senate Rule 34 incorporates the financial disclosure
provisions of the Ethics in Government Act.

In addition, the Senate Ethics Manual requires members to disclose the date, total
purchase or sale price and description of any property bought or sold in Part IV of the financial
disclosure form.166 All sales must be included on financial disclosure forms as transactions.  The
instruction booklet provides that filers must include:

A brief description, the date, and category of value of any purchase, sale or
exchange during the preceding calendar year which exceeds $1,000—
(A) in real property, other than property used solely as a personal residence of the
reporting individual or his spouse; or
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167 Instruction Booklet, Transactions.

168 Id.

169 Id.

170 Improper Conduct Reflecting Upon the Senate and General Principles of Public
Service, Senate Ethics Manual, Appendix E, p. 432.

171 Id.

172 Id. at 433; see also fn. 10 citing a 1964 investigation into the activities of Bobby
Baker, then Secretary to the Majority of the Senate, the Committee on Rules and Administration,
which stated, “It is possible for anyone to follow the ‘letter of the law’ and avoid being indicted
for a criminal act, but in the case of employees of the Senate, they are expected, and rightly so,
to follow not only the ‘letter’ but also the ‘spirit’ of the law.”  S. Rep. No. 1175, 88th Cong., 2d
Sess. 5 (1964).

173 Senate Ethics Manual, p. 434.

(B) in stocks, bonds, commodities futures, and other forms of securities.167

In other words, filers must report each purchase, sale, or exchange of real property or
securities by themselves, their spouse, or dependent child when the category of value of the
transaction, or series of transactions in one type of property, exceeds $1,000 in a calendar year.168

“Practically any security or real property that [the filer] purchased, sold, or exchanged during the
year will have to be reported on both Schedule III and Schedule IV of FORM A.”169  

By failing to include his wife’s investment in Centerpoint I on his financial disclosure
forms, Sen. Stevens has violated federal law and Senate rules. 

Senate Rule Prohibiting Improper Conduct

The Senate Ethics Manual provides that “[c]ertain conduct has been deemed by the Senate
in prior cases to be unethical and improper even though such conduct may not necessarily have
violated any written law, or Senate rule or regulation.  Such conduct has been characterized as
“improper conduct which may reflect upon the Senate.”170  This rule is intended to protect the
integrity and reputation of the Senate as a whole.171  The Ethics Manual explains that “improper
conduct” is given meaning by considering “generally accepted standards of conduct, the letter and
spirit of laws and Rules. . .”172 

In 1991, the Senate Select Committee on Ethics concluded that Senator Alan Cranston had
engaged in improper conduct which reflected on the Senate by “engaging in an impermissible
pattern of conduct in which fund raising and official activities were substantially linked.”173 
Although the committee found that none of Senator Cranston’s activities violated any particular
law or Senate rule, the committee nonetheless found Senator Cranston’s conduct “violated
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174 Id. at 435.

175 Id.

176 Id. at 436.

177 Id. (citing H. Con. Res. 175, 85th Cong., 2d Sess., July 11, 1958 (72 Stat. B12)).

established norms of behavior in the Senate, and was improper conduct that reflects upon the
Senate . . .174  As a result, the committee issued a reprimand to Senator Cranston.175

In addition, the Senate Select Committee on Ethics’ Rules specifically list the Code of
Ethics for Government Service as a source for committee jurisdiction.176  The code states that a
person in government service should  “never discriminate unfairly by the dispensing of special
favors or privileges to anyone, whether for remuneration or not; and never accept for himself or
his family, favors or benefits under circumstances which might be construed by  reasonable
persons as influencing the performance of his governmental duties.”177 

If Sen. Stevens used his position to provide legislative assistance to VECO in return for
house renovations, if he provided legislative assistance to Jonathan Rubini and Leonard Hyde in
return for being allowed to participate in lucrative real estate transactions, if he used his position
to benefit companies that hired his son, Ben Stevens, or his former aide, Trevor McCabe, or if he
accepted contributions to his foundation from companies that need his legislative assistance, he
may have engaged in improper conduct which reflects upon the Senate.  
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1 Bartholomew Sullivan, Blackburn Campaign Admits Finance Glitch, Memphis
Commercial Appeal, April 16, 2008 (Exhibit 1).

2 Id.

3 Bill Theobald, Blackburn Campaign Misreported Thousands in Campaign Donations,
Spending, Tennessean, April 18, 2008 (Exhibit 2). 

4 Id.

5 Federal Election Commission, Complaint: ADR Case #287, July 20, 2005 (Exhibit 3).

6 Federal Election Commission, Settlement Agreement: ADR Case #287, March 22, 2006
(Exhibit 4).

7 Bartholomew Sullivan, Watchdog Group, Germantown Woman File FEC Complaint
Against Rep. Blackburn, Memphis Commercial Appeal, June 11, 2008 (Exhibit 5).

8 Id.

REP. MARSHA BLACKBURN

Rep. Marsha Blackburn (R-TN) is a third-term member of Congress representing
Tennessee’s seventh congressional district.  Her ethics issues stem from her repeated failure to
properly report campaign receipts and expenditures, including payments made to a family owned
business.

Unreported Campaign Expenses/Contributions

In April of 2008, Rep. Blackburn announced that her campaign committee had
discovered errors in their reporting extending back six years.1  The committee failed to report
$286,278 in expenditures, including $18,821 paid to a firm owned by her daughter and son-in-
law.2  The campaign also failed to report $102,044 in contributions.3  Additionally, the campaign
had misreported over $52,025 in campaign contributions and disbursements.4 

Rep. Blackburn’s campaign committee has had a pattern of erroneous reporting.   In
2005, the Federal Election Commission (FEC) investigated the campaign committee for major
reporting discrepancies.5  The matter was eventually resolved with the campaign committee
paying a $1,500 fine and the committee treasurer agreeing to attend an FEC compliance
seminar.6  During the course of that investigation, Rep. Blackburn’s campaign committee failed
to properly disclose a 2004 $1,000 contribution from Friends of Duke Cunningham, the former
committee for the now imprisoned ex-congressman.7  The contribution was finally noted on an
amendment filed in April of 2008.8

During Rep. Blackburn’s first three campaigns, the FEC sent 33 letters pointing out 90
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9 Bill Theobald, Blackburn Campaigned Plagued By Financial Data Problems, Jackson
Sun, May 19, 2008 (Exhibit 6). 

10 Id.

11 Id.

12 Bartholomew Sullivan, Blackburn Gets Little Shelby Cash, Commercial Appeal, July
29, 2006 (Exhibit 7). 

possible errors in the committee’s reports.9  After the 2005 FEC enforcement case, Rep.
Blackburn hired election lawyer Donald McGahn to conduct an internal audit.10  Following the
audit, Rep. Blackburn’s campaign committee filed amendments for all 32 reports it has
submitted to the FEC.11

Violations of Campaign Finance Law

By failing to properly report contributions and expenditures to the FEC, including
payments made to a business owned by her daughter and son-in-law, Rep. Blackburn’s campaign
committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(2) and 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4).  In addition, by failing to
disclose the contribution from Friends of Cunningham after signing a settlement agreement
claiming that all previously submitted information was true and correct, the treasurer of the
campaign committee may have committed perjury in violation of 28 U.S.C. § 1746.-law.12  
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1 Edward T. Pound, Friendly Dealings, National Journal, June 28, 2008 (Exhibit 1). 

2 Coleman for Senate 08, FEC Form 3 Reports, 2003-2008; Norm Coleman for US
Senate, FEC Form 3 Reports, 2001-2005; NorthStar Leadership PAC, FEC Form 3 Reports,
2003-2008 (pages listing contributions attached) (Exhibit 2).

3 Pound, National Journal, June 28, 2008. 

4 Id.

5 Id.

6 Id.

7 Pound, National Journal, June 28, 2008.

8 Id. 

SEN. NORM COLEMAN 

Senator Norm Coleman (R-MN) is a first-term senator, representing Minnesota. His
ethics issues stem from lodging he accepted in violation of the Senate gifts rule.

Failure to Pay Rent

When in Washington, Sen. Coleman lives in a basement apartment in the Capitol Hill
townhouse of Republican operative Jeff Larson.1  Mr. Larson runs FLS Connect, a telemarketing
firm, which has been paid over $1.4 million since 2001 by Sen. Coleman’s leadership political
action committee (PAC) and two campaign committees.2  Mr. Larson is also the treasurer of Sen.
Coleman’s PAC and provides it with office space in St. Paul, MN.3  Adding to the relationship
between the pair, Mr. Larson’s wife, Dorene Kainz, had been employed as a casework supervisor
in Sen. Coleman’s St. Paul office, though after National Journal questioned Sen. Coleman about
this, his staff announced that she would leave the office on July 10, 2008.4

In March 2007, Mr. Larson and his wife purchased a townhouse on Capitol Hill.5  In July
2007, Sen. Coleman began paying Mr. Larson $600 per month to rent a portion of the basement
apartment.6 After National Journal began asking Sen. Coleman and Mr. Larson about the
senator’s living arrangement, the senator “discovered” that he had failed to pay rent in
November 2007 and January 2008, leading his wife to provide Mr. Larson with a personal check
for $1,200.7  In addition, Sen. Coleman sold Mr. Larson some furniture -- a couch, table and
chairs and a desk -- to cover one month’s rent, and Mr. Larson held onto Sen. Coleman’s March
rent check for three months, until June 17, before cashing it only days after National Journal
began making inquiries.8  Similarly, Sen. Coleman did not have a lease or pay utilities for the
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9 Kevin Duchschere, Coleman Defends D.C. Lease, Minneapolis Star Tribune, August
13, 2008 (Exhibit 3).

10 Id.

11 Id.

12 Senate Ethics Manual, Select Committee on Ethics, U.S. Senate, p. 314 (2003 ed.). 

13 Rule 35, paragraph 1(b)(1). 

14 Emily Kaiser, The Down-low on Coleman’s Digs in Upscale D.C. Neighborhood,
Minneapolis Star Tribune, July 11, 2008 (Exhibit 4).

first year he lived in the apartment.9  On July 3, 2008, Sen. Coleman and his wife signed a lease
and on July 14, 2008, Ms. Coleman wrote a $532.88 check for a year’s worth of utilities.10

According to his campaign manager, a verbal agreement with Mr. Larson was the basis for Sen.
Coleman’s annual utility bill.11

Gifts Rule Violation

Rule 35, paragraph 1(a)(1) of the Senate Code of Official Conduct states that “No
Member, officer or employee of the Senate shall knowingly accept a gift except as provided in
this rule.”12  The Ethics Manual defines “gift” to mean “any gratuity, favor, discount,
entertainment, hospitality, loan, forebearance, or other item having monetary value.  The term
includes gifts of services, training, transportation, lodging and meals, whether provided in kind,
by purchase of a ticket, payment in advance, or reimbursement after the expense has been
incurred.”13  

Over the past year, Sen. Coleman appears to have accepted lodging from Mr. Larson for
at least three months without paying the agreed upon rent until caught by National Journal. 
Although Sen. Coleman recently paid $1,200 and Mr. Larson cashed a check for an additional
$600 after National Journal questioned the pair about the payments, the fact that the payments
were not made until flagged by the media heightens rather than diminishes the concerns over
Sen. Coleman’s conduct.  Sen. Coleman’s repeated missed rent payments and Mr. Larson’s
failure to cash Sen. Coleman’s check suggest that Mr. Larson was not, in fact, necessarily
expecting payment.  Moreover, it is unclear whether the $600 rental rate represents the fair
market value of the apartment considering other rental rates in the Capitol Hill neighborhood.    
After touring Sen. Coleman’s apartment, a Minneapolis Star Tribune reporter wrote that the
space is not extravagant but well kept and renovated.14 A spokesman for Sen. Coleman said,
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15 Kevin Duchschere, DFLers claim Sen. Coleman’s D.C. Digs Break Senate Rules,
Minneapolis Star Tribune, June 30, 2008 (Exhibit 5).

16 Id.

17 Letter from Melanie Sloan, CREW, to Barbara Boxer, Chair and John Cornyn, Ranking
Member, July 1, 2008 (Exhibit 6).

according to their research, the senator is paying fair market value,15 but a Minnesota political
group reported similar apartments on Capitol Hill rent for $1,100 to $1,450.16   

Because lodging clearly falls within the Senate’s definition of “gift,” Sen. Coleman
appears to have violated the Senate gifts rule by accepting free lodging from Mr. Larson,
someone who financially benefits from his relationship with the senator.  Further complicating
the issue is the question of whether the salary paid to Mr. Larson’s wife as an employee in Sen.
Coleman’s office might constitute the true payment of the rent.  Also troubling is the fact that
Sen. Coleman paid his back rent, and Mr. Larson cashed Sen. Coleman’s checks, only once the
media began questioning the living arrangement.  Finally, by failing to pay his utility bills, which
were valued at $532.88 – well over the $49.99 permissible gift limit -- Sen. Coleman accepted an
improper gift from Mr. Larson.

On July 1, 2008, CREW filed a complaint with the Senate Select Committee on Ethics
requesting an investigation into this matter to determine whether Sen. Coleman has violated the
Senate gifts rule.17 
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1 Anthony York, Debate Intensifies Over Richardson Home Default, Capitol Weekly,
May 22, 2008 (Exhibit 1).

2 Erica Werner, California Congresswoman Says Home Sale Improper, Associated Press,
May 24, 2008 (Exhibit 2).

3 Gene Maddaus, Broker Alleges Loan Favoritism, Press-Telegram, June 9, 2008 
(Exhibit 3).

4 Rep. Laura Richardson, Personal Financial Disclosure Statement for Calendar Year
2007, Filed May 19, 2008; Rep. Laura Richardson, Amended Personal Financial Disclosure
Statement for Calendar Year 2007, Filed June 13, 2008; Rep. Laura Richardson, Amended
Financial Disclosure Statement for Calendar Year 2007, Filed June 27, 2008 (Exhibit 4).

5  Jared Allen and Jackie Kucinich, GOP Leaders Say Richardson’s Housing Troubles
Warrant Scrutiny, The Hill, June 18, 2008 (Exhibit 5).

6 Maddaus, Press-Telegram, June 9, 2008. 

7 Allen and Kucinich, The Hill, June 18, 2008.

8 Richardson for Congress, FEC Form 3, Pre-Runoff Report 2007, August 10, 2007, pp.
38-40 (Exhibit 6).

REP. LAURA RICHARDSON

Rep. Laura Richardson (D-CA) is a first-term member of Congress, representing
California’s 37th congressional district.  Rep. Richardson’s ethics issues stem from accepting
favorable loans and her failure to properly report a loan on her financial disclosure statements.

Falling into Foreclosure

In May 2008, it was reported that Rep. Richardson’s Sacramento home had been sold
into foreclosure.1  She claimed that this had happened without her knowledge and contrary to an
agreement with her lender.2  Rep. Richardson had failed to make mortgage payments on the
property for nearly a year and had defaulted on other home loans as well.3  Rep. Richardson also
failed to include the mortgage on her Sacramento home on her personal financial disclosure
statements.4  According to press reports, Rep. Richardson has defaulted on loans at least eight
times on properties she owns in Long Beach, San Pedro and Sacramento.5  She also failed to pay
approximately $9,000 in property taxes on the Sacramento residence.6  James York, the owner of
Red Rock Mortgage bought the Sacramento home at a foreclosure auction on May 7, 2008 for
$388,000.7

At the same time that Rep. Richardson was missing payments and failing to pay her
taxes, in June and July 2007, she made three loans to her congressional campaign totaling
$77,500.8
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9 Maddaus, Press-Telegram, June 9, 2008.

10 Id.

11 Gene Maddaus, Rep. Richardson Can Get Sacramento House Back, Press-Telegram,
July, 25, 2008 (Exhibit 7).

12 Maddaus, Press-Telegram, June 9, 2008.

13 Maddaus, Press-Telegram, July, 25, 2008.

14 Paul Eakins, U.S. Rep. Laura Richardson Late on Car Bills, Daily Breeze, June 6, 2008
(Exhibit 8).

15 Rules of the House of Representatives, 110th Congress, p. 41.

16 House Rule 25, clause 5 (a)(2)(A).

On June 2, 2008, Washington Mutual Bank, Rep. Richardson’s lender, filed a notice of
rescission of the foreclosure sale.9  By that time, Mr. York had already invested money cleaning
up the house and preparing it for resale.10  As a result, Mr. York filed suit against Rep.
Richardson and Washington Mutual, alleging that Rep. Richardson received preferential
treatment from Washington Mutual because of her position as a member of Congress.11  Mr.
York claimed that Washington Mutual would never have rescinded the sale, but for the fact that
Rep. Richardson is a member of Congress.12  In July 2008, it was reported that Mr. York suit
against Rep. Richardson and the bank had been dropped, allowing Rep. Richardson to reclaim
the home.13

 Press reports also indicate that Rep. Richardson has been late in paying car bills to
mechanics and an invoice for invitation printing related to her campaign.14

Gift Rule Violation

Rule 25, clause 5(1)(A)(I) of the House rules states that “a Member, Delegate, Resident
Commissioner, officer, or employee of the House may not knowingly accept a gift except as
provided in this clause.”15  The Rules  define “gift” to mean “a gratuity, favor, discount,
entertainment, hospitality, loan, forebearance, or other item having monetary value.  The term
includes gifts of services, training, transportation, lodging and meals, whether provided in kind,
by purchase of a ticket, payment in advance, or reimbursement after the expense has been
incurred.”16

Rule 25, clause 5(a)(3)(R)(v) allows Members, officers, and employees to accept
opportunities and benefits that are available to a wide group, specifically providing that they may 
accept “loans from banks and other financial institutions on terms generally available to the
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17 House Rules, p. 42.

18 Allen and Kucinich, The Hill, June 18, 2008. 

19 House Ethics Manual, p. 258 (citing 5 U.S.C. App. 4 § 102(a)(4)).  

20 Id.

21 Jared Allen, Mortgage Non-Disclosure is Trouble for Richardson, The Hill, June 3,
2008 (Exhibit 9). 

public.”17

Given that “loans” are included in the definition of “gifts,” if Washington Mutual Bank
rescinded its foreclosure of Rep. Richardson’s house and renegotiated her mortgage on terms
that differed from the terms the bank offered to any other similarly situated individual in default
on their mortgage, Rep. Richardson may have received an improper gift in violation of House
rules.

The House ethics committee also should inquire into whether Rep. Richardson has
received other favorable treatment from lenders in the past.  According to press reports, Rep.
Richardson has defaulted on loans at least eight times on properties she owns in Long Beach,
San Pedro and Sacramento.18  Because it is unusual for someone with such a deplorable credit
history to be approved for mortgages repeatedly, Rep. Richardson may have traded on her other
elected positions in order to receive those loans.

Failure to Report Loan on Financial Disclosure Statements

The House ethics committee should consider whether Rep. Richardson’s failure to
include the mortgage violates House rules.

Personal obligations aggregating over $10,000 owed to one creditor at any time during
the calender year, regardless of repayment terms or interest rates must be included on personal 
financial disclosure statements.19  Although mortgages secured by a personal residence need not
generally be disclosed, there is an exception if the indebtedness exceeds the purchase price.20 
Rep. Richardson purchased the house in January 2007 and by the end of the year, she owed
$575,000 to the bank after failing to make payments on her initial $535,000 mortgage.21  Thus,
because Rep. Richardson owed $40,000 more than the initial purchase price of the house, she
was required to include the debt on her personal financial disclosure statement.  It is also
possible that given her history of defaulting on loans, Rep. Richardson may owe more than the
initial purchase price on the Long Beach and San Pedro homes as well, meaning that those loans
too ought to have been included on the congresswoman’s financial disclosure statements. 

The Ethics in Government Act authorizes the Attorney General to seek a penalty of up to
$11,000 against an individual who knowingly and willfully falsifies or fails to file or report any
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22 Id. at 265 (citing 5 U.S.C. App. 4 § 104(a)). 

23 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

24  Rule 23, clause 1. 

25 House Ethics Manual, p. 12.  

required information.22  In addition, knowingly and willfully falsifying a report or concealing a
material fact is a crime punishable by up to 5 years in jail.23 

Conduct that Does Not Reflect Creditably on the House

In addition, the committee should examine the timing of Rep. Richardson’s most recent
default and the $77,500 she loaned her congressional campaign committee.  Members of the
House are required to conduct themselves “at all times in a manner that reflects creditably on the
House.”24  This ethics standard is considered to be “the most comprehensive provision of the
code.”25  By funneling money that should have gone to pay her mortgage and property taxes to
her congressional campaign, Rep. Richardson clearly engaged in conduct that does not reflect
creditably on the House.
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REP. MIKE TURNER

Rep. Mike Turner (R-OH) is a third-term member of Congress, representing Ohio’s third
congressional district.  Rep. Turner’s ethics issues stem from a no-bid marketing contract that
was awarded to his wife from a group that receives federal funding.

The Turner Effect

Rep. Turner’s wife, Lori Turner, is president and CEO of the Turner Effect, a Dayton,
Ohio based marketing firm.1  The Turner Effect was awarded a no-bid contract by Dayton
Development Coalition in 2006 to develop and market an advertising campaign.2  The Dayton
Development Coalition lobbies the Miami Valley congressional delegation, which includes Rep.
Turner, for federal funds.3  The coalition paid the Turner Effect $300,000 for the first part of a
$1.5 million marketing campaign.4 

Ms. Turner said that in the past her company has turned down clients based on potential
conflicts of interest with her husband.5  She claimed the Dayton Development Coalition contract
presented no conflict of interest because her husband has no affiliation, is not a member of the
coalition and that the coalition receives no federal earmarks.6  FedSpending.org shows, however,
that the coalition received at least $1.2 million in federal funds in fiscal year 2006.7 
Additionally, federal lobbying records show the coalition has retained outside lobbying services
since 2002 and has been registered to lobby on its own behalf in 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2008.8  

After criticism from the local media, Ms. Turner withdrew her company from the
branding campaign in February 2008, before receiving additional funds from the coalition for the
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Officers and Employees,” Prohibition Against Linking Official Actions to Partisan or Political
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second half of the campaign.9

Additionally, since 2002 staff, members of the board of directors of the Dayton
Development Coalition and their families have donated $100,650 to Rep. Turner’s campaign
committee.10  

5 CFR § 2635.702(a)

A “fundamental rule of ethics” for members of the House is that they are prohibited from
“taking any official actions for the prospect of personal gain for themselves or anyone else.”11 
House members are directed to adhere to 5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a), issued by the U.S. Office of
Government Ethics for the Executive Branch, which provides:

An employee shall not use or permit use of his Government
position or title or any authority associated with his public
office in a manner that is intended to coerce or induce another
person . . . to provide any benefit, financial or otherwise,
to himself or to friends, relatives, or persons with whom the
employee is affiliated in a nongovernmental capacity.

By earmarking funds for a coalition that hires his wife, Rep. Turner has used his position
to provide a financial benefit to his wife, thus running afoul of 5 C.F.R. § 2635.702(a).

In a 1999 memorandum, the House Committee on Standards of Official Conduct quoted
approvingly the Code of Ethics for Government Service, which provides that government
officials should “[n]ever discriminate unfairly by the dispensing of special favors or privileges to
anyone, whether for remuneration or not.”12  The Committee stated specifically that the
provisions of the Code of Ethics for Government Service apply to House members, and that
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formal charges may be brought against a member for violating that code.13

The Committee on Standards of Official Conduct should investigate whether Ms. Turner
secured a contract with the Dayton Development Coalition because of her relationship with Rep.
Turner and as part of an effort by the coalition to curry favor with Rep. Turner in order to receive
federal earmarks.  By using the powers of his office to funnel funds to an entity that hired his
wife, Rep. Turner may have dispensed special favors in violation of House rules.

5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rules

A provision of the Ethics Reform Act of 1989, 5 U.S.C. § 7353, prohibits members of the
House, officers, and employees from asking for anything of value from a broad range of people,
including “anyone who seeks official action from the House, does business with the House, or
has interests which may be substantially affected by the performance of official duties.”14  House
Rule 23, clause 3, similarly provides: 

A Member, Delegate, Resident Commissioner, or employee
of the House may not receive compensation and may not permit
compensation to accrue to his beneficial interest from any
source, the receipt of which would occur by virtue of influence
improperly exerted from his position in the Congress.

The Committee on Standards of Official Conduct should investigate to determine if Rep.
Turner accepted over $100,000 in campaign contributions from the Dayton Development
Coalition in return for earmarking federal funds in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 7353 and House Rule
23.
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EXHIBITS

To view all the exhibits cited in this report, please visit www.CREWsMostCorrupt.org.
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